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Boralex Inc. (“Boralex” or the “Corporation”) is a major private electricity 
producer whose core business is the development and operation of power 
stations that run on renewable energy. Employing close to 300 people in 
Québec, the northeastern United States and France, the Corporation owns  
and operates 21 power stations with a combined installed capacity of  
333 megawatts (“MW”). Boralex is distinguished by its leading expertise  
and long experience in four types of power generation: 

>> Over the past five years, Boralex has become 
one of the biggest and most experienced wind 
power producers in France, where it currently 
operates six wind farms with a total installed 
capacity of 89 MW. A new 12-MW wind farm 
will be starting up in St-Agrève, France in 2007.
>> Boralex owns eight hydroelectric power 
stations, including five in the United States, 
two in Québec and one in France, with a 
combined installed capacity of 26 MW. 

>> Boralex is the largest producer of wood-
residue energy in North America, operating six 
thermal power stations in the states of Maine 
and New York with a total installed capacity  
of 204 MW. 
>> Boralex also operates a 14-MW natural gas 
cogeneration power station in France. 

In addition to its own power stations, Boralex 
manages 10 power stations for the Boralex 
Power Income Fund (the “Fund”), in which  
it holds a 23% interest. These facilities have a 
total capacity of 190 MW and consist of one 
thermal power station and one wood-residue 
cogeneration plant in Québec, seven hydroelec-
tric power stations (five in Québec and two in 
the United States), and a natural gas cogenera-
tion power station in Québec. 
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Head office
Boralex inc.
36 Lajeunesse Street
Kingsey Falls, Quebec J0A 1B0 
Canada
Telephone: (819) 363-5860
Fax: (819) 363-5866

Business office
Boralex inc.
770 Sherbrooke Street West
Montreal, Quebec H3A 1G1 
Canada
Telephone: (514) 284-9890
Fax: (514) 284-9895

Website
www.boralex.com

Additional copies of the following  
documents and other information can  
also be obtained at the above address or  
on Boralex Inc.’s and SEDAR’s websites:
> Annual report
> Quarterly reports
> Annual information form
> Information circular

Transfer agent and registrar
Computershare Investor Services Inc.
1500 University Street, Suite 700
Montreal, Quebec H3A 3S8 
Canada
Telephone:  
1-800-564-6253 / (514) 982-7888
Fax: 1-888-453-0330 / (514) 982-7635
service@computershare.com

Shareholder information
The annual Meeting of Shareholders  
will be held at 11:00 a.m., Wednesday,  
May 16, 2007 at the:

Centre Mont-Royal 
Room Mont-Royal I 
4th floor
2200, Mansfield Street
Montreal, Quebec H3A 3R8 
Canada
Telephone:  
(514) 844-2000 / 1-888-844-2200

Additional information  
may be obtained from: 
Communications Department
Boralex inc.
770 Sherbrooke Street West
Montreal, Quebec H3A 1G1 
Canada
Telephone: (514) 985-1353
Fax: (514) 985-1355

Pour obtenir une version française du  
rapport annuel, veuillez communiquer  
avec le service des communications.
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Our vision

Boralex’s goal is to be a Canadian leader in  
the development and operation of renewable  
energy in North America and Europe.
We plan to grow by generating electricity from 
natural or recycled sources in a manner that 
respects both communities and the environment.
Our strength lies in the expertise, skills and 
innovative spirit of our employees.
Our commitment is to manage our facilities 
ethically, to be a good corporate citizen and  
to provide a sustained financial performance  
to our shareholders and partners.
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(in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise specified)	 	 	 2006  2005  2004  2003
     (�2 months)  (�2 months)  (�5 months) (�2 months)
       (restated) (�)

operations
Revenue from energy sales   120,002   108,696   91,362  64,096 
Share in earnings of the Fund   10,023   8,873   11,722   8,197 
EBITDA(2)   42,822	  34,084   12,906   5,401 
Net earnings (net loss)    15,020		 21,088   (1,362)  (5,709)
Cash flows from operations (2)   24,518		 26,219   11,977   7,108  

investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   19,201	  135,753   41,385   12,514  
Business acquisitions   6,749	  18,642   1,585   12,616  

financial position
Property, plant and equipment   282,489   262,460   152,076   128,111  
Investment (3)   75,553   77,997   82,615   89,969  
Total assets   478,383   429,515   273,888   252,716  
Long-term debt   192,493   164,832   37,994   35,005  
Shareholders’ equity    183,602   165,211   150,805   164,871  

class a share data
Net earnings (net loss) from continuing operations per share   $0.50	  $0.70  $(0.03)  $(0.13) 
Net earnings (net loss) per share - basic   $0.50	   $0.70  $(0.05)  $(0.19) 
Net earnings (net loss) per share - diluted   $0.49	  $0.70  $(0.05)  $(0.19) 
Shareholders’ equity per share outstanding at the end of the period   $6.11   $5.51   $ 5.03   $ 5.52  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (in thousands)    30,050  29,987  29,913  29,931
Shares outstanding, end of period (in thousands)   30,050  29,989  29,987  29,865

financial ratio 
Long-term debt to equity   1.05  1.00  0.25  0.21
(�) Financial statements figures have been reclassified to conform to the 2006 presentation, including the presentation of discontinued operations.
(2)  Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA and cash flows from operations are not measures of performance under the Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Refer to the 

Additional Information about Non-GAAP Performance Measurements section of the management’s discussion and analysis on page 26.
(3) The investment represents the Corporation’s interest in the Fund.

trading on class a shares

Financial  Shares issued   Closing
year ended   and outstanding  High  Low  price

December 31, 2006  30,049,586 $11.25 $7.99 $10.40
December 31, 2005  29,989,398 $9.00 $5.50 $8.39

stock data

Securities:  ............................................................................................... Class A Shares 
Symbol:  ........................................................................................................................  BLX  
Exchange:  ............................................................................................................. Toronto 
Principal Shareholder (As at December 31, 2006) :  ................ Cascades Inc. 43%

growth in stock price blx (tsx)

composite index s&p/tsx 
blx

2006 Financial Highlights and Stock Data

200� 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

200 

�50

�00

50

0

�00

�68
�47

�20
�07

86 ��6
93

59
4644

boralex 2006 Annual Report

2



wind power segment
>> Revenue up 267% and EBITDA up 377% 
due to the efficient start-up of three new sites 
in France late in 2005, and to an improved 
availability rate of the wind power facilities 
in general.
>> Installation of a state-of-the-art remote 
control centre in Blendecques, France.
>> In Québec, continued assessment work of  
a planned wind farm of more than 400 MW  
in partnership with the Seminary of Québec 
and Gaz Métro. To date, numerous studies 
confirm the excellent potential of this site.

hydroelectric power segment 
>> Increases of 9% in revenue from energy  
sales and 15% in EBITDA, despite lower 
market prices for electricity in the north-
eastern United States.

>> Record production levels up 26% compa-
red to 2005 and 22% over the historical 
average due to outstanding hydrology in  
the northeastern United States.

natural gas segment
>> Revenue from energy sales up 6% and 
EBITDA up 100%.
>> $3.4 million in sales of excess CO2  
emission quota.

wood-residue segment 
>> Revenue down 9% and EBITDA down 
67%, primarily due to external factors: a 
temporary downturn in demand and market 
prices for Connecticut RECs, lower electricity 
prices on the open market in the northeastern 
U.S., and higher wood-residue costs.
>> New 26-month electricity sales contracts 

signed at the end of the year for the Ashland 
and Fort Fairfield power stations, with terms 
that are in line with current market conditions.
>> Chateauguay power station qualified to  
sell RECs in the state of New York and con-
cluded a REC contract with the NY State 
government.
>> Recovery of Connecticut’s REC market  
in the fourth quarter: $3.9 million in REC 
sales for the Stratton power station, and over 
US$13 million in forward sales of its forecast 
production for 2007, 2008 and 2009.
>> Closing, in December 2006, of a transaction 
resulting in the monetization of renewable  
energy production tax credits to be granted 
until 2009 to certain Boralex’s U.S.-based 
wood-residue thermal power stations. 

(�)  Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

growth  
in EBITDA (�)26%

$15
million of EBITDA  
from the wind power segment$20

increase in revenue  
from energy sales10%

million in net earnings,  
or $0.49 per share
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Patrick Lemaire 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Bernard Lemaire 
Executive Chairman of the Board

True to its mission to be a leader  
in renewable energy generation,  
Boralex continues to position itself  
so that it can effectively participate  
in the growth of this new market. 



After a period of major expansion in 2005, Boralex focused  
on consolidation and organic growth in fiscal 2006. In addition 
to optimizing our new wind power infrastructures in France, we 
continued to deepen and diversify our ability to operate power 
stations by strengthening our team and deploying unique, 
custom-designed performance tools.

2006 Results and Highlights
On the financial front, although Boralex’s revenues grew by 
more than 10% to $120 million for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2006, profitability was down from the record 
performance of 2005, primarily due to more difficult condi-
tions in the U.S. wood-residue segment. As we anticipated, 
Connecticut’s emerging market in renewable energy certifi-
cates (“RECs”) went through a year of transition marked by 
higher supply than demand, which led to a temporary decline 
in prices. This situation, along with lower electricity prices on 
the northeastern U.S. open market, higher wood-residue sup-
ply prices and a major equipment breakdown at our Stratton 
facility, largely account for the decrease in the Corporation’s 
net earnings, which dropped from $21.1 million or $0.70 per 
share in 2005, to $15.0 million or $0.49 per share in 2006. 
However, several positive developments occurred toward the 
end of fiscal 2006 and early in the new year, including the 
anticipated recovery in the REC market, so that we expect  
to see much better results for this segment in 2007. 

All of Boralex’s other segments did well in 2006. Growth  
was mainly driven by the wind power expansion in France in 
2005, which more than tripled its capacity. In a highly effec-
tive push, a total of 42 new wind turbines were integrated  
and run-in during 2006. Over the past five years, Boralex 

has invested almost $200 million to establish its presence and 
develop its know-how in this market. It is now positioned as 
one of the largest and, above all, most experienced wind power 
producers in France. 

In the 2006 fiscal year, results were also positively affected  
by excellent water flows in the hydroelectric segment, the  
sale of excess carbon dioxide (“CO2”) quota by our natural  
gas cogeneration plant in France, and a significant increase  
in our share of the results from the Boralex Power Income 
Fund. Boralex is the manager and the principal unitholder  
in the Fund. 

Following the federal government announcement in October 
2006 about the planned new tax treatment for income trusts, 
which could take effect in 2011, the Fund set up an indepen-
dant committee to evaluate its options. The Fund has 
announced on March 2, 2007 that it has resolved to com-
mence a process to solicit proposals leading to a potential sale 
of, or merger with, the Fund. Boralex’s shareholders will be 
informed at the appropriate time of any major development 
on this issue and its impact on Boralex.

In addition, financial arrangements were made in fiscal 
2006 that give Boralex greater flexibility for further expansion. 
These include an $85 million revolving credit arrangement 
early in the year and, more recently, an important transaction 
that allows Boralex to monetize tax credits for the renewable 
energy generated by certain of its U.S. wood-residue power 
stations until 2009. This transaction resulted in US$14.5 mil-
lion cash inflow in the fourth quarter. Plus, under the terms  
of the agreement, Boralex will receive US$12.8 million over  
in the next three fiscal years based on the amount of power 
generated by our wood-residue facilities.

Well̄ positioned 
 for the future

Message to Shareholders
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Outlook
Profitability in the wood-residue segment, in particular, 
should improve significantly in 2007. Demand and prices in 
the Connecticut REC market have trended upward since the 
fourth quarter of 2006. This should continue in future years 
since Connecticut, where Stratton is qualified to sell RECs, 
has set a minimum percentage for the renewable energy that 
distributors must carry, and that percentage rises over time; it 
will more than triple by 2010 compared to 2006. In addition 
to signing firm contracts to sell most of the RECs it expects  
to produce in 2007, Stratton has already found buyers for part 
of its 2008 and 2009 production, for revenues of more than 
US$13 million to date. For its part, the Chateaugay power 
station, which qualified for the New York State REC market 
in February 2006, recently signed a contract to sell its RECs 
to the government of New York State, effective April 1, 2006, 
which gives it additional security for the next 10 years. We are 
currently evaluating the other New England REC markets to 
eventually qualify other wood-residue facilities.

The Corporation has also instituted a number of measures 
over the past few years, and more particularly in 2006, to sta-
bilize and optimize power sales and improve profitability in 
the wood-residue segment. Highlights include the renewal in 
January 2007 of two-year contracts to sell the power generated 
by the Ashland and Fort Fairfield power stations, at terms that 
are more in line with the actual market. This will significantly 
increase the profitability of these two plants as well as the aver-
age sales price per megawatthour (“MWh”) for the wood- 
residue segment, even though we expect prices on the open 
market to remain relatively stable in 2007. We also signed 
contracts to sell a significant part of the 2007 power generated 
by Stratton and Livermore Falls, which will help secure their 
revenues. Boralex also took steps to take advantage of the 
Forward Capacity Market, a new market that allows wood-
residue power producers to receive compensation for 

committing to maintain their existing capacity. This new  
market will represent a significant source of recurring revenue 
starting in 2007. Our wood-residue segment continues to im-
prove the availability, quality and cost of fuel, a central aspect  
of its global program to optimize power-station productivity 
and efficiency.

We also expect our wind power segment to contribute more 
to Boralex’s earnings in 2007, since the new Massif Central 
and Plouguin wind farms built in 2005 and ramped up in 
2006 will be fully operational in 2007. A new 12-MW wind 
farm will also begin operating in mid-2007, and capacity at  
an existing site will be expanded later in the year. Given that 
the average price our facilities receive is higher in France than 
in North America, raising the volume of power generated in 
France has a significant positive impact on Boralex’s profita-
bility. Wind power results will also benefit from Boralex’s 
ever-more efficient and proactive technical management of its 
facilities. Last year, drawing on Boralex’s remote management 
and preventive maintenance experience acquired over a num-
ber of years in the hydroelectric segment, our wind farm team 
in France set up an advanced remote management centre that 
now connects all its facilities. The team also installed sophisti-
cated communication equipment to monitor the real-time 
physical environment and wind-turbine performance. This has 
had a positive impact on the availability rate, productivity and 
maintenance expenses of these facilities. Such tools will be 
highly useful for all our future wind power projects, no matter 
where they are located.

For the past five years we have taken a cautious approach  
as we gradually became more familiar with wind power gene-
ration. Now that we have a proven track record and solid 
experience in operating sites of 12 MW to 39 MW, we are 
ready to take on bigger projects. The French government has 
said that it wants to increase wind power generation by a fac-
tor of ten over the next 10 years, and has backed that up by 

“We expect that Boralex will post a solid performance in 2007, 
given the favourable trends in our target markets and our efforts 
over the past several years to optimize power station performance 
and develop our expertise.” 

Message to Shareholders
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passing legislation to encourage investment in this sector. This 
is an incentive for us to pursue an ambitious investment strat-
egy in France, where we intend to substantially increase our 
installed capacity in the near future. We will also be exploring 
growth opportunities in other countries in Europe. 

In Québec, we are working with Gaz Métro and the Sémi-
naire de Québec on the Seigneurie de Beaupré project, which 
will involve building a wind farm that can generate more than 
400 MW. The project will be submitted to Hydro-Québec 
Distribution this year, in response to their 2005 call for bids 
for an additional 2,000 MW. Many surveys have been done  
of this large and very well-located site and the data confirm  
its excellent potential. 

Renewed Commitment to Economic Value Creation  
that Respects Communities and the Environment
A profound shift in public opinion and government policy  
in many industrialized countries is resulting in concrete action 
to control greenhouse gases and protect the environment.
Given this context, we wish to provide more details about our 
vision for the future of Boralex. Our vision is based on the 
fundamental choice we have made from the very beginning:  
to reconcile value creation for shareholders with our active 
commitment to the environment and society, in the true  
spirit of sustainable development.

From a strictly economic point of view, it is clear that the  
new interest in renewable energy, and particularly wind power, 
raises new challenges. These include increased competition for 
equipment, higher project acquisition costs and the entry of 
well-capitalized corporations into the market. Not only do  
we believe that Boralex is in a good position to take on these 
challenges, we also see them as real opportunities for growth. 
The upcoming wave of new capital investment and renewable 
energy generation projects could give rise to a large asset base 
that would have to be made profitable as soon as possible 

and then offer acceptable, stable and predictable returns.  
The result will depend in large part on the ability to optimize 
asset operation by maximizing performance and reliability, 
which requires proven know-how, specific technical skills 
and specialized tools, in particular in preventive maintenance. 
These are all things that Boralex can provide, thanks to a  
solid, experienced and highly talented team. 

Boralex’s primary strength is that it is, first and foremost,  
an operator with a long-term vision and proven know-how in 
renewable energy generation. We have been working in this field 
for more than 15 years and have acquired and developed skills 
and knowledge that are not easily found in the marketplace, 
especially since they encompass different types of power genera-
tion and a broad range of natural conditions. Boralex’s second 
strength is its experience in site evaluation and development, an 
area that will help its continued expansion in the months and 
years to come. Thus, while continually looking for opportunities 
to acquire projects or assets that meet our strategic and finan-
cial criteria, we will also be trying to identify sites with strong 
potential that we can develop alone or through a partnership. 

We are determined to keep Boralex growing, primarily in 
North America and Europe, in line with its long-held values 
and with close attention to minimizing the costs and risks 
associated with growth as well as existing operations. The 
Corporation’s balanced and profitable development will con-
tinue to be supported by its geographic, segment and techno-
logical diversification, as well as its expert team and the steady 
integration of new technical skills and advanced tools. 

To conclude, we wish to thank every member of the Boralex 
team for their dedication and exemplary energy in taking on 
the challenges and seizing the opportunities that make it pos-
sible for the company to evolve in accordance with its vision. 
We also thank our shareholders for their trust in us, and our 
Board of Directors for their knowledgeable counsel.

Bernard Lemaire 
Executive Chairman of the Board

Patrick Lemaire
President and Chief Executive Officer

Message to Shareholders

(s) Bernard Lemaire (s) Patrick Lemaire
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Wind Power
In December 2005, Boralex started  
operating three new wind power sites in 
France, two in Massif Central (57 MW) 
and one in Plouguin, Brittany (8 MW). 
In just a few weeks, the number of wind 
turbines we operate rose from 18 to 60, 
almost quadrupling our installed capa-
city and positioning Boralex as one of 
the largest wind power producers in 
France, generating about 10% of France’s 
power in 2006. The fact that we have  
a geographically diversified asset base 
helps limit our operating risk yet gives 
us special expertise in the operation of 
wind turbines under different condi-
tions (near the sea, in the mountains,  
on the plains, etc.). This experience will 
help Boralex establish farms in other 
regions that are favourable to the deve-
lopment of wind power. 

The wind power segment began 2006 
with a considerable challenge: to inte-
grate a major expansion as quickly and 
efficiently as possible. This involved hir-
ing new staff, training all operators –  
particularly in inspection and preventive 
maintenance techniques – and setting up 
a state-of-the-art control centre. The 
control centre, which is in Blendecques, 
is based on the one Boralex has run in 
Kingsey Falls (Québec) since 1989.  

It manages all our sites remotely using 
highly advanced communication and 
monitoring equipment (largely deve-
loped in-house), including a system for 
the real-time analysis of wind-turbine 
performance. 

We had to overcome considerable 
challenges at the beginning of the run-in 
period as a result of heavier-than-normal 
icing and some equipment failures. 
However, we quickly implemented cor-
rective measures and then focused our 
efforts on developing preventive meth-
ods that are unique in the wind power 
industry. Boralex is now, for instance, 
awaiting a patent for its new method  
of preventing blade icing. 

Unlike other methods in the industry, 
which are limited to notifying operators 
that there is ice on the blades, our so-
phisticated technology measures the 
meteorological conditions and detects, 
before they occur, situations in which ice 
is likely to form. Operators can then 
stop the turbines until weather condi-
tions improve. This greatly reduces the 
risk of damage and the dangers of flying 
ice. By increasing equipment reliability 
and availability, this advance has a direct 
impact on the operational and financial 
performance of our wind farms. 
In conjunction with other proactive 

measures and controls, this innovation 
allowed us to progressively increase the 
average availability of our wind turbines 
over the course of 2006.

In 2006, Boralex’s wind power  
segment generated 189,964 MWh of 
electricity. Performance should improve 
significantly in 2007 given that our new 
infrastructures are now fully operatio-
nal. Also, in June 2007 in the St-Agrève 
area, we will be starting up our seventh 
wind farm with six wind turbines, for  
a total capacity of 12 MW. Given  
St-Agrève’s proximity to Massif Central, 

Our wind farms, at Ally  
or elsewhere, are integrated  

in their environment.

Our actions for  
a greener environment
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we will benefit from certain operational 
synergies. In the latter half of fiscal 2007  
we plan to increase the capacity of our 
Avignonet-Lauragais wind farm by 
4 MW, which will have a favourable 
impact on its profitability. Other pro-
jects are being developed in France, 
including some under the memoran-
dum of understanding signed in 2005 
with developers to enhance certain  
sites by adding a potential 70 MW. 

In Québec, the project undertaken in 
2005 with Gaz Métro and the Séminaire 
de Québec to develop and operate, if 
possible, a wind power site of more than 
400 MW on the Seigneurie de Beaupré 
lands is progressing very well. The neces-
sary studies (including surveys of the 
environmental, landscape and noise 
impacts) were conducted to our satisfac-
tion and submitted to the concerned 
ministries. We have accumulated more 
than 15 months of site wind measure-
ments from a dozen measurement to-
wers. The towers were equipped with our 
devices for detecting ice and analyzing 
weather conditions, which is extremely 
useful for this project in particular and 
gives us an undeniable advantage in our 
other possible projects in Québec and 
elsewhere in North America and Europe. 

Hydroelectric Power
One of Boralex’s first areas of expertise 
was operating hydroelectric power 
stations in which it often pioneered 
innovative approaches, particularly in 
preventive maintenance and the remote 
management of power stations. Since 
most of Boralex’s hydroelectric facilities 
are now located in New York State, its 
team has also acquired over the last years 
leading expertise in selling electricity on 
the open market. 

Year after year, Boralex’s hydroelectric 
plants have provided a reliable and pro-

fitable revenue stream, despite the ine-
vitable power generation fluctuations 
due to changes in water flows. Fiscal 
2006 was an excellent year, since water 
flows were much higher than in 2005, 
especially in the northeastern United 
States. Our eight power stations gener-
ated a total of 138,518 MWh, up 26% 
over fiscal 2005 and exceeding their his-
torical average by 22%. The U.S. power 
stations even exceeded their record level 
of production of 2004, reporting the 
best year ever since they were built in 
the late 1980’s, and did so despite an 
equipment breakdown in August 2006 
which took the Warrensburg plant in 
the U.S. offline for three months. 
Despite the decline in electricity prices 
on the open market, the productivity  
of our hydroelectric power stations, 
combined with our ongoing efforts to 
improve their reliability and reduce 
maintenance costs by instituting new 
preventive measures, enabled this seg-
ment to report a solid performance 
in 2006. 

Over the past three years, we have 
greatly improved our methods of pre-
ventive management. For example, we 
regularly use non-destructive techniques 
to detect any problems in our machine 
components. We are also preparing to 
roll out a real-time turbine efficiency 
program that uses new remote mana-
gement technologies. 

We are confident that the hydro-
electric segment will continue to do  
well in 2007, since our power stations 
continue to improve their reliability  
and costs. We also continue to study 
potential power-station acquisitions  
or building projects which, in accord-
ance with our vision, will make it 
possible to promote the long-term 
growth of this green and renewable 
energy par excellence.

Wood-Residue Thermal Power
Boralex entered this segment in 1998 
and is now the largest producer of  
wood-residue thermal energy in North 
America. In 2006, the acquisition of a 
sixth 18-MW plant in Stacyville, Maine 
raised our installed capacity to 204 MW. 

In recent years, we have adopted a 
multi-level strategy to optimize power 
sales based on market prices, and make 
the most out of the other sources of  
revenue to which we have access as a 
renewable energy producer. Among 
them, the REC market is a particularly 
promising opportunity. In 2006, how-
ever, our revenue from this segment was 
affected by two events. First, the REC 
market in Connecticut went through a 
transition period marked by a signifi-
cant drop in prices, which led us to 
postpone the sale of part of the RECs 
produced by our power station in 
Stratton, Maine. Second, Stratton suf-
fered successive breaks, which prevented 
it from producing RECs for close to 
75 days. Preventive measures were 
implemented to effectively limit the 
recurrence of a similar event.  

Run-of-river,  
the Huntingville power station  

lives in harmony  
with the environment.
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fire 



In the REC market in Connecticut, the 
strengthening demand and prices that 
we expected to see in 2007 actually 
materialized in the fourth quarter of 
2006. The start of a new cycle of higher 
demand gave us the opportunity to sign 
a series of firm agreements to sell most 
of Stratton’s production for 2007, and 
even part of 2008 and 2009. 

We reached another important stage 
when our power station in Chateaugay, 
New York officially qualified for the  
New York State REC market in February 
2006, which allowed it to sell RECs 
produced between April 1 and Decem-
ber 31, 2006. These positive develop-
ments lead us to believe that the REC 
market in the northeastern United States 
will have a significant impact on the 
performance of Boralex’s wood-residue 
segment in the coming quarters and years.

To optimize revenue from power 
sales, we must ensure that we have an 
adequate supply of high-quality wood-
residue, which is a major challenge given 
their low availability. Thus, in 2004, 
Boralex adopted an innovative approach 
in which we supply contractors who 
operate near our facilities with special-
ized equipment that makes it possible to 
recover the tops and branches of trees 
abandoned in the forest by harvesters. 
This is an excellent source of fuel that 
would otherwise not be utilized. In 2006, 
we more than doubled the number of 
these specialized units and now have 17 
that are operated by a dozen partners 
who supply our power stations with 
about 600,000 tons of wood residue per 
year, meeting more than a third of their 
fuel requirements. Wood-residues pro-
duced by forest harvesting has thus 
become our primary source of fuel which 
in the medium term, will have a positive 
impact on the performance and mainte-
nance costs of our power stations, given 

how cleanly this material burns. We also 
obtain construction and demolition 
wood from local suppliers, along with 
urban and industrial wood recovered  
by our sorting and recycling centre in 
Montréal. Boralex is continually ana-
lyzing alternatives and various wood- 
quality combinations in order to opti-
mize its burn rate costs and decrease 
transportation charges.

Finally, in 2006, we started a general 
power-station optimization program 
that will help our facilities generate 
power at a lower cost and improve their 
performance without major investments. 
The program involves rigorous quality 
control of wood residues as well as a  
series of initiatives to improve the effi-
ciency of boilers and equipment. Some 
plants are already operating at optimal 
capacity, while others should reach it in 
the next few quarters. In fiscal 2006, the 
power station optimization program and 
the improvements in our supply practi-
ces helped raise production in the wood-
residue segment by more than 7%,  
excluding Stratton and the new facility 

in Stacyville. Including the latter  
two, production for 2006 totalled 
1,010,206 MWh. 

Fiscal 2007 is off to a good start, 
especially since the Ashland and Fort 
Fairfield facilities in Maine began the 
year with power sales contracts that are 
more in line with the current market 
conditions and its cost structure. In the 
coming years, we will continue our 
efforts to guarantee the availability  
of our power stations and deliver  
electricity steadily and profitably.

Natural Gas Cogeneration Plant
Boralex operates a cogeneration plant  
in France that supplies steam to a con-
tainerboard plant and sells electricity  
to Électricité de France (“EDF”). For the 
past two years, given the high price of 
natural gas and clauses in its contract 
with EDF, this business unit stopped 
generating electricity in the summer 
while continuing to serve its steam client 
from an auxiliary boiler. To date, this 
shortfall has been offset by the sale of 
excess CO2 quota, as provided in the 
mechanism set up by the European 
Union following implementation of the 
Kyoto Protocol in Europe. The natural 
gas cogeneration plant should continue  
this operating mode in 2007. This deci-
sion will be reevaluated if the natural 
gas costs drop significantly. 

Fire converts wood-residue,  
a resource otherwise wasted,  

into energy.
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Wood-Residue  
Power

 204mw
6 wood-residue  
power stations
� sorting centre  

Ashland,		
Maine, U.S.A.  
Capacity: 40 MW 
Annual Output  
Capacity:  
252	GWh	

Chateaugay,		
New York, U.S.A.		
Capacity: 20 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
140	GWh

Fort	Fairfield,		
Maine, U.S.A.  
Capacity: 36 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
240	GWh

Livermore	Falls,		
Maine, U.S.A.		
Capacity: 40 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
252	GWh

Stacyville,		
Maine, U.S.A.  
Capacity: 18 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
125	GWh

Stratton,		
Maine, U.S.A. 	
Capacity: 50 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
370	GWh

Urban	Wood	Recovery	and		
Sorting	Centre	in	Montreal	
Québec, Canada 
Annual Recycling Capacity:  
70,000	tonnes

Wind  
Power

 89mw
6 wind power stations
60 wind turbines
� wind power station  
under construction

Avignonet-Lauragais,		
France  
Capacity: 8 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
20	GWh 
Expected growth: 4 MW
Chépy,		
France  
Capacity: 4 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
7.1	GWh

Nibas,		
France  
Capacity: 12 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
21.4	GWh

Ally-Mercoeur,		
France		
Capacity: 39 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
78	GWh

Cham	de	Cham	Longe,		
France  
Capacity: 18 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
58	GWh

Plouguin,		
France  
Capacity: 8 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
21	GWh

St-Agrève,		
France  
(Under construction)  
Confirmed Capacity: 12 MW 

Hydroelectricity  
Power

 26mw
8 hydroelectric  
power stations  
 
 

East	Angus,		
Québec, Canada		
Capacity: 2.2 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
15	GWh

Huntingville,  
Québec, Canada  
Capacity: 0.3 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
1	GWh

La	Rochette,		
France		
Capacity: 1 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
3	GWh

Fourth	Branch,		
New York, U.S.A.		
Capacity: 3.1 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
14	GWh

Middle	Falls,		
New York, U.S.A.		
Capacity: 2.3 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
10.2	GWh	

New	York	State	Dam,		
New York, U.S.A.		
Capacity: 11.4 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
48.4	GWh	

Sissonville,		
New York, U.S.A.		
Capacity: 3 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
13.3	GWh	

Warrensburg,		
New York, U.S.A.		
Capacity: 2.9 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
10.9	GWh

Natural Gas  
Power

 �4mw
� natural gas-fired  
cogeneration  
power station 

Blendecques,		
France		
Capacity: 14 MW 
Annual Output Capacity:  
82	GWh	
Annual Output of Steam:  
528,000	thousands	of	pounds
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Our power stations
 

A total installed  
capacity of 333 mw, on two  
continents and in four types  

of power generation.
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francecanada / united states

wood-residue 
segment
Ashland
Chateaugay
Fort Fairfield
Livermore Falls
Montréal
Stacyville
Stratton

wind power  
segment
Ally
Avignonet-Lauragais
Cham Longe
Chépy
Nibas
Plouguin
St-Agrève (In construction)

natural gas  
segment
Blendecques

hydroelectric  
segment
La Rochette

hydroelectric  
segment
East Angus
Fourth Branch
Huntingville
Middle Falls
NY State Dam 
Sissonville
Warrensburg



Protecting  
the environment,  

being a good  
corporate citizen  

and creating economic 
value are, for Boralex, 

interrelated 
commitments.

Sustainable Development
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The principe of sustainable development is 
at the very heart of our corporate mission. 
It dictates all of our growth strategies, 
our management practices, the day-to-day 
operation of our facilities, and our rela-
tions with Boralex’s various stakeholders.

Some years ago, Boralex adopted an 
environmental mission that channels our 
resources and our know-how towards 
implementing the business processes 
that are most conducive to environmen-
tal protection. We therefore encourage 
the acquisition and in-house develop-
ment of innovative technologies that 
can both improve our productivity and 
minimize our environmental footprint. 

As well, we constantly endeavour to 
integrate our facilities in an ecologically 
balanced way, and to prioritize respect 
for the environment in our project  
development activities.

In the hydroelectric power segment,  
Boralex operates run-of-river power 
stations that minimize the impact on 
aquatic flora and fauna. We have also 
demonstrated our accountability and 
innovation by incorporating migration 
systems for salmon on some of the rivers 
we have harnessed.

Every year, our six thermal power sta-
tions make use of over 1,800,000 tons of 
wood residue that would otherwise go to 
waste or end up in landfills. Since 2004, 
Boralex has invested heavily in its power 
stations, equipping them with advanced 
systems to control combustion gases and 
atmospheric emissions of nitrogen oxides, 

carbon monoxide and particules from 
the wood-fuelled boilers. As well, the ash 
resulting from the wood residue burning 
process is recovered and used for agricul-
tural purposes where the law allows it.

Since 2005, our natural gas cogenera-
tion plant in Blendecques has been 
participating in Europe’s excess CO2 
emission quota market.

The community is a constant concern 
for Boralex. Our employees are our 
most valuable asset. Boralex recognizes 
the essential contribution they make to 
the Corporation’s success, and develops 
transparent, proactive, and empowering 
management policies for their benefit. 

Boralex gives priority to honest com-
munications and an open-door policy. 
Our corporate culture emphasizes 
equity and zero tolerance for discrimi-
nation, with plenty of room for innova-
tive ideas so that each and every person 
can develop to their full potential.

We have stringent and rigorous work-
place health and safety practices which 
are a priority for management. In addi-
tion to its profit-sharing policy, Boralex 
offers employees a worthwhile and com-
petitive benefit and insurance plan, as 
well as a service recognition program. 

Through many initiatives, Boralex  
fosters the personal development of  
employees and seeks to improve their 
quality of life. A variety of social and 
sports activities are held throughout the 
year to enhance employee well-being 
and promote team spirit.

Boralex also respects the people who 
live in the regions where we operate.  

We take steps to ensure that our develop-
ment is built on dialogue and coopera-
tion with elected representatives and the 
communities that host our facilities, and 
that such development respects the local 
surroundings and the natural environ-
ment for tourism. In addition to its res-
pectful treatment of local environments, 
Boralex supports the communities that 
host its facilities with a variety of dona-
tions and sponsorships. More than 140 
organizations have received financial 
support from us in the past three years.

Boralex believes – and for a number  
of years has been proving – that it is possi-
ble to create added value for shareholders 
while contributing to society in a sustai-
nable manner. Our power generation 
operations, by their very nature, fit into 
this approach.

Boralex seeks to provide not only  
financial returns for shareholders, but 
also economic benefits for other stake-
holders, including employees, suppliers 
and partners. Furthermore, Boralex’s  
financial success not only contributes to 
the economic development of Québec, 
but also generates benefits for the regions 
where we operate facilities. 

Moreover, Boralex is committed to 
running its business transparently, in  
accordance with the rules of good gover-
nance. Every employee also undertakes 
to uphold the ethical principles defined 
by Boralex. This is also true for our Code 
of Ethics which guides our directors on 
issues such as confidentiality, competi-
tion and conflicts of interests.

economy 
During the last three years, Boralex  

has invested more than $238 million  
in various development projects.

community 
In 2006, Boralex dedicated 2.7% of  

its payroll for training. Thus, employees  
benefited from 7,30� hours of training.

� Based on a calculation tool by RETscreen International.

environment
Boralex generated more than  

�,338,688 mwh of clean, renewable energy  
in 2006, enough to provide electricity  
for 95,427 households, and to prevent  

the emission of �39,000 tonnes of CO2. 
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description of activities
Boralex Inc. (“Boralex” or the “Corporation”) is a private  
electricity producer operating in Québec, Canada, in the 
northeastern United States and in France, with about 300 
employees. The Corporation specializes in the generation  
of renewable energy; it thus owns and operates 21 power  
generation sites with a combined installed capacity of 333 
megawatts (“MW”). In addition to its own power stations, 
Boralex manages ten power stations with a total installed  
capacity of 190 MW in Québec and the northeastern United 
States that belong to the Boralex Power Income Fund (the 
“Fund”), in which it has a 23% interest. 

Boralex operates in four different sectors that each corres-
ponds to a different type of energy production.

>>   Over the past five years, Boralex has developed leading 
expertise in wind power; it currently operates six wind 
farms in France with a total installed capacity of 89 MW. 
In 2007, a new 12 MW wind farm will start operating in 
St-Agrève, France.

>>   Boralex owns eight hydroelectric power stations, of which 
five are in the United States, two in Québec and one in 
France, with a combined total installed capacity of 26 MW. 
The Corporation manages another seven hydroelectric 
power stations for the Fund, of which five are in Québec 
and two in the United States, with a total installed capacity 
of just over 96 MW.

>>   Boralex is one of the largest producers of wood-residue 
energy in North America, with six thermal power stations 
in Maine and New York State (United States) that have a 
total installed capacity of 204 MW. In addition, on behalf 
of the Fund, the Corporation manages a wood-residue 
thermal power station with an installed capacity of 35 MW 
and a wood-residue cogeneration power station with an 
installed capacity of 28 MW in Québec. To provide a  
partial source of supply for the power stations, Boralex 

operates a division that recycles urban waste wood, and has 
supply agreements with various Canadian and U.S. providers.

>>  In France, Boralex operates a 14 MW natural gas cogene-
ration power station that also produces 528,000 thousand 
pounds of steam per year. The Corporation also manages 
Québec’s only natural gas cogeneration power station for 
the Fund, which has an installed capacity of 31 MW and 
produces 870,000 thousand pounds of steam per year.

Boralex’s stock, in which Cascades Inc. holds a 43% interest, 
trades on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the ticker  
symbol BLX.

introductory comments
General
This management report discusses the operating results and 
cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 com-
pared to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, and its 
financial position at those dates. It should be read in conjunc-
tion with the audited consolidated financial statements and 
related notes in this Annual Report. Additional information 
about the Corporation, including the annual information 
form, previous annual reports, management reports and  
quarterly financial statements and press releases are publi-
shed separately and are available on the SEDAR website  
(www.sedar.com). 

In this report, Boralex or the Corporation mean, as  
applicable, Boralex Inc. and its subsidiaries and divisions  
or Boralex Inc. or one of its subsidiaries or divisions. 

The information contained in this report reflects all  
material events up to February 28, 2007, the date on which 
the Board of Directors approved the financial statements  
and Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Unless otherwise indicated, all financial information, as 
well as tabular information, is in Canadian dollars.

Management’s  
Discussion & Analysis

for the year ended December 31, 2006
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Notice Concerning Forward-Looking Statements
The purpose of this report is to help the reader understand  
the nature and importance of changes and trends, as well as the  
risks and uncertainties that can affect Boralex’s operating results 
and financial position. Some of the statements contained in this 
analysis, including those regarding future results and perfor-
mance, may constitute forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of securities legislation and are based on current 
expectations. These statements are characterized by the use of 
positive or negative verbs such as “plan,” “anticipate,” “evaluate,” 
“estimate,” “believe” and other related expressions. 

Boralex would like to point out that, by their very nature, 
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties;  
its results or the measures it adopts could therefore differ mate-
rially from those indicated or underlying such statements,  
or could have an impact on the degree of realization of a  
particular projection. 

The main factors that may lead to a material difference 
between the Corporation’s actual results and the projections or 
expectations set forth in the forward-looking statements include, 
but are not limited to, the general impact of economic condi-
tions, increases in fuel costs, currency fluctuations, volatility  
in the selling price of electricity, the Corporation’s financing 
capacity, negative changes in the general market and industry 
conditions, as well as other factors described in Risks and 
Uncertainties in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

No assurance may be given regarding actual results, returns 
or realizations that are presented or implied in forward-looking 
statements. Unless required to do so under applicable securities 
legislation, Boralex management does not assume any obliga-
tion to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect 
new information, future events or other changes.

Compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
Unless otherwise specified, all financial information, including 
tabular information, is prepared in accordance with Canadian 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). This 
report also contains figures that are not performance measure-
ments according to GAAP. For instance, Boralex uses earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) 
because this method allows Management to assess the operating 
and financial performance of the Corporation’s reportable  
segments. Please see Additional Information about non-GAAP 
Performances Measurements in this report for a comparison of 
EBITDA figures and certain items in Boralex’s consolidated 
results. Boralex also uses cash flows from operations which 
corresponds to cash flow from operating activities before chan-
ges in non-cash working capital balances in the consolidated  

statement of cash flows as a useful financial indicator to 
measure cash flows provided by operations.

Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures for Disclosure  
of Financial Information and Internal Financial Controls
Management has established and maintains controls and  
procedures for the disclosure of corporate information so  
that it can provide reasonable assurance that it promptly 
receives important information related to the Corporation. 
Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and  
the Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the 
Corporation’s controls and procedures for the disclosure  
of financial information as at the date of the 2006 annual 
report and has no knowledge of any significant change to 
these controls and procedures.

Management is also responsible for the design of internal 
controls within the Corporation so that it can provide reaso-
nable assurance that financial information is reliable and that 
financial statements for public disclosure have been prepared 
in accordance with GAAP. Management, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, reviewed the 
design of the Corporation’s internal controls and procedures 
related to financial information at the fiscal year end and is of 
the opinion that they are sufficient to provide this level of 
reasonable assurance. As at the date of this report, manage-
ment has no knowledge of any change to the Corporation’s 
internal controls that has or could reasonably be assumed to 
have a material impact on the Corporation’s internal controls 
on financial information.

Seasonality
Operations and results for some of the Corporation’s power 
stations are subject to seasonal cycles that vary by segment. 
The impact of seasonal variations differs depending on whether 
the power stations have power sale agreements or not. For the 
13 Boralex power stations that have long-term fixed-price 
power sale agreements (six wind farms, one hydroelectric 
power station and one natural gas cogeneration plant in 
France; two hydroelectric power stations in Québec; one 
hydroelectric power station and two wood-residue thermal 
power stations in the United States), the seasonal cycles mainly 
affect the volume of power generated. The eight power stations 
that do not have long-term contracts and that sell their power 
on the open market in the northeastern United States (four 
hydroelectric and four wood-residue power stations in Maine 
and New York), are more vulnerable to seasonal fluctuations 
which, in addition to influencing production volume, also 
have an impact on prices obtained on the electricity market. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Generally, electricity consumption increases in the winter 
and summer, which correspond to Boralex’s first and third 
quarters. This means that, for those two periods, power  
stations that sell on the open market usually obtain higher 
average electricity prices. Given this, and because the wood-
residue power stations can control their level of production, 
they generate more power during such periods. Their regular 
maintenance is then done in the spring or fall, which affects 
their operating results for those periods.

Hydroelectric generation depends on water flows, which in 
Québec and the northeastern US are at their maximum in the 
spring and are generally good in the fall, which correspond to 
Boralex’s second and fourth quarters. Flows tend to decrease 
in the winter and summer. Note that Boralex’s hydroelectric 
facilities do not have reservoirs that would permit regulation 
of water flows. 

In the wind power segment, where Boralex’s operations are 
currently focused in France, wind conditions are usually more 
favourable in the winter, that is, in Boralex’s first and fourth 
quarters. However, in the winter there is a higher risk of 
downtime caused by weather conditions such as icing.

The natural gas cogeneration plant’s long-term contract 
with Électricité de France (“EDF”) contains a clause that limits 
electricity prices from April to October. When natural gas 
prices are high, the revenue margin for this period is not suffi-
cient to offset the ceiling on electricity prices. The cogeneration 
equipment may therefore shut down in which case the Corpo-
ration supplies its steam customer from an auxiliary boiler. 

In conclusion, although Boralex is affected by seasonal cycles, 
its diversified production sources reduce seasonal variations in 
its results. The Corporation is also developing complementary 
revenue streams in order to increase and secure sales. It partici-
pates, for example, in the carbon dioxide (“CO2”) emission 
quota market in France, and the Renewable Energy Certificates 
(“RECs”) market and Forward Capacity Market in the 
United States. 

(For more information on quarterly changes in Boralex’s 
results for the past two years, please see Selected Quarterly 
Information presented as additional information after this 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.)

summary of consolidated information for the past three fiscal years
(in thousands of dollars, except amounts per share and number of shares)
      
Fiscal years ended December 31     2006  2005  2004 (1) (2)

      (12 months) (12 months) (15 months)

Revenue from energy sales     120,002  108,696  91,362(3)

EBITDA     42,822  34,084  12,906(3)

Net earnings (net loss)      15,020  21,088  (1,362)
 per share (basic)     $0.50  $0.70  $(0.05)
 per share (diluted)     $0.49  $0.70  $(0.05)
 Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)     30,033,885  29,986,994  29,913,139

data related to the balance sheet 
As at December 31     2006  2005  2004

Total assets     478,383  429,515  273,888
Total debt (4)     234,328  203,849  70,732
Shareholders’ equity     183,602  165,211  150,805
(1) Certain data from fiscal 2004 were restated to reflect the presentation adopted during fiscal 2006.
(2) In 2004, the Corporation changed its fiscal year end from September 30 to December 31. As a result, the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004 contained 15 months, or five quarters. 
(3) From continuing operations, that is, excluding revenue and EBITDA for the wood-residue thermal power stations located in Athens, Maine, sold on May 5, 2004.
(4) Including long-term debt and current maturities, as well as bank loans and advances.
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highlights of the last two fiscal years
The power stations in Stratton, Maine and in Chateaugay, 
New York qualified for the Connecticut and New York states 
REC markets
In recent years, Boralex has sought to position some of its 
wood-residue power stations so that they can trade in the 
emerging REC markets in the United States. Starting with its 
facility in Stratton, Maine, it completed investments of about 
$10 million by the end of 2004 in order to qualify the plant 
as a renewable energy producer with the state of Connecticut, 
so that it could receive, for each megawatthour (“MWh”)  
produced, a premium over and above the base electricity 
price. The new equipment started operating in the last week 
of 2004, and January 1, 2005 marked the start of Stratton’s 
REC-qualified production. 

RECs are officially awarded each quarter, at a rate of one  
for each MWh produced, if the average level of atmospheric  
emissions is maintained below the quarterly regulatory limit. 
The minimum quantity of green energy required from electri-
city distributors in Connecticut is based on a scale that will  
rise annually from 2% in 2006 to 7% in 2010. 

In 2005, the Stratton power station reported revenue of 
$8.1 million from REC sales. The growth in Boralex’s conso-
lidated results between fiscal 2004 and 2005 is largely due to 
REC sales, higher electricity prices on the open market in the 
northeastern United States in 2005 and U.S. tax credits for the 
generation of renewable energy by wood-residue power stations. 

As management anticipated, in 2006, the emerging RECs  
market in Connecticut experienced a transition period in 
which supply exceeded demand, which led to a temporary 
drop in prices. Given this situation, Stratton sold only part of 
its 2006 production during 2006, generating sales of about 
$3.9 million. The decline in the Corporation’s 2006 net ear-
nings compared to 2005 is largely due to the weakness in the 
REC market, combined with lower electricity prices on the 
open market in the northeastern U.S., higher wood-residue 
costs and a major upgrade at Stratton. However, demand and 
prices in the Connecticut REC market rose starting in the 
fourth quarter of 2006 and this positive trend should continue 
in 2007. Thus, in addition to signing firm contracts to sell 
most of the RECs it plans to produce during 2007, Stratton  
has also signed firm contracts for part of its production in 
2008 and 2009. To date, these agreements represent revenue  
of more than US$13 million. 

In February 2006, the Chateaugay power station qualified  
for the REC program in New York State, which operates diffe-
rently from the market in Connecticut. Chateaugay negotiated 

and signed a 10-year contract with the Connecticut govern-
ment that gives the facility more security with respect to the 
price at which it sells its electricity, effective April 1, 2006. 
Chateaugay thus reported $1.7 million in REC sales during fiscal 
2006. Boralex is currently evaluating other REC markets in 
New England to eventually qualify other power stations. 

Renewable Energy Tax Credits for Wood-residue Facilities  
in the United States
Following the American Jobs Creation Act passed by the U.S. 
government, and starting in 2005, Boralex’s wood-residue  
thermal power stations can benefit, based on their generation 
of electricity, from tax credits that are non-refundable, but  
can be carried forward. This tax credit is awarded to producers 
of renewable energy if their type of production meets the  
qualifying criteria. This program, which started on January 1, 
2005, is slated to run for five years (to the end of 2009) for  
wood-residue thermal power stations. The credit is calculated 
by multiplying production by a unitary factor that may change 
from year to year. That factor was set at US$9 per MWh for 
2005 and US$10 per MWh for 2006. In 2006, Boralex reco-
gnized $10.6 million of these credits ($11.0 million in 2005) 
as an offset to operating expenses of the wood-residue thermal 
power stations, as recommended in Section 3805 of the  
CICA Handbook.

Monetization of U.S. Tax Credits
On December 1, 2006, Boralex’s U.S. subsidiary, Boralex 
Industries Inc., closed a transaction with investors for the 
monetization of U.S. renewable energy production tax credits 
(described in the previous paragraph) to which its wood-residue 
thermal power stations will be entitled until 2009. This tran-
saction involved the transfer to a group of investors of indirect 
equity interests in some of the U.S. wood-residue thermal 
power stations, and the receipt by Boralex of US$14.5 million 
($16.7 million) at closing along with a US$12.8 million contin-
gent payment note. These amounts represent the discounted 
value of the tax credits that will be generated between the 
transaction date and December 31, 2009, the date when the 
federal tax credit program ends. The contingent note will  
be repaid in quarterly instalments based on a proportion of 
the actual amount of the tax credits earned by the power sta-
tions under the monetization program. In the Corporation’s 
consolidated balance sheet, the cash consideration received in 
December 2006 appears as a liability under Deferred revenue, 
which will be incrementally recognized as revenue in the 
consolidated statement of earnings as the tax credits are earned. 
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Under this transaction, the Corporation retains its full 
authority over the management of the power stations pursuant 
to an operation and maintenance agreement, and also has call 
rights to buy back the wood-residue assets at certain times and 
for certain amounts, exercisable following final repayment of 
the contingent note. One of the main purpose of the monetiza-
tion transaction was to build up the working capital of Boralex’s 
U.S. subsidiary so as to provide greater financial flexibility for 
its continuing operations and investment projects.

Expansion Projects
In December 2005, Boralex commissioned three new wind 
power sites, through its subsidiary in France, with 42 wind 
turbines and a total installed capacity of 65 MW. All of the 
power generated by these sites is sold to EDF under 15-year 
fixed-price agreements. The first two sites are in Massif Central. 
One of them, in the Plateau d’Ally in the Haute-Loire, has 
26 wind turbines, each with a capacity of 1.5 MW. The other, 
in the Plateau de Cham de Cham Longe, in Ardèche, has 
twelve 1.5 MW wind turbines. To develop these two sites, in 
which Boralex originally had a 95% interest, Boralex invested 
$115 million financed in large part by a major French bank. 
In the second quarter of 2006, Boralex purchased the remai-
ning 5% from the minority shareholders, for $1.0 million. 
The third wind farm built in 2005, which is wholly owned  
by the Corporation, has an installed capacity of 8 MW and is 
located in Plouguin, in Brittany. It required an investment of 
$14.9 million and was partially financed by a major French 
bank. These three sites raised Boralex’s total installed capacity 
in wind power in France from 24 MW as at December 31, 
2004, to 89 MW as at December 31, 2005. The new wind 
farms began satisfactory operation during 2006.

On July 22, 2005, to support its growth in France, the 
Corporation arranged a €190 million master agreement with a 
French bank. This will provide Boralex with the cash it requires 
to finance new projects as opportunities arise in France.

On December 14, 2005, Boralex completed its acquisition 
of the shares of Éoliennes de la Citadelle S.A.S., which holds 

the building and operating permits for a 12 MW wind  
farm in the communes of Saint-Agrève and de Desaignes  
in Ardèche, France. This farm was initially slated to start  
operating in the fourth quarter of 2006, but start-up was 
postponed to June, 2007 due to delayed equipment deliveries 
by the supplier. The farm will have six 2 MW wind turbines 
and all power will be sold to EDF under 15-year contracts. 
However, an application to increase its capacity to 14 MW is 
in the process of being authorized. The financing for this project  
comes under the master agreement signed in July 2005. 

In the third quarter of 2006, Boralex purchased the 35% inte-
rest held by minority shareholders of the Avignonet-Lauragais 
wind farm for $2.2 million. An application to increase the 
site’s installed capacity is in the process of being authorized.

On October 11, 2005, Boralex and its partners Gaz Métro 
and Séminaire de Québec announced that they had signed an 
exclusive agreement to assess, develop and operate, if possible, 
a wind power site of more than 400 MW on the Seigneurie de 
Beaupré lands located in the Côte-de-Beaupré and Charlevoix 
regions in Québec, and owned by the Séminaire de Québec.  
In 2007, this project will be submitted in response to Hydro-
Québec Distribution’s 2005 call for bids for an additional 
2,000 MW. The territory under study is far from inhabited 
areas, close to power transmission lines and currently being 
exploited for its timber resources. In 2005 and 2006, Boralex 
installed a dozen wind-reading units on the Seigneurie lands 
to gather data and establish the wind power potential of the 
area. By December 31, 2006, there were 15 months of wind-
reading accumulated. To date, the data gathered and the 
various studies conducted (including environmental, lands-
cape and sound studies), confirm the site’s potential.

On December 5, 2006, Boralex acquired a wood-residue 
power station with an installed capacity of 18 MW, located in 
Stacyville, Maine. As at January 1st, 2007, its electricity contract 
was renewed for a two-month period. Boralex bought the plant 
in order to realize operational synergies. Boralex will periodi-
cally evaluate the strategic options for this power station.
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CO2 Quotas in France
Following adoption of the Kyoto Protocol in Europe, the 
European Union set up a mechanism in 2005 wherein com-
panies that use fossil fuels are assigned a CO2 emission quota. 
On the reporting date, the company must show that its quota 
is sufficient to cover its atmospheric emissions during the pre-
vious year. To comply with these regulations, companies that 
exceed their quota must buy additional quota from others who 
are in a surplus position because they have reduced their level 
of atmospheric emissions. Under current regulations, each 
company’s quota will be re-evaluated in 2008. 

Because Boralex’s natural gas-fired power station in 
Blendecques, France interrupted its cogeneration activities for 
part of 2005 and 2006 due to the high price of natural gas,  
the facility had excess CO2 quota. Part of that quota was sold 
in 2005, generating revenue of about $1 million. In 2006, in 
addition to selling its excess CO2 quota for the year, the plant 
proceeded with the forward sale of its anticipated excess quota 
for 2007, generating revenue of $3.4 million for 2006. 

Long-Term Refinancing of Corporate Operating Credit
On January 27, 2006, Boralex announced that it had concluded 
long-term financing of $85 million to replace the $65 million 
corporate line of credit arranged in 2004. The initial term of 
the new revolving credit is three years, with two one-year 
renewal options. The revolving credit is secured by Boralex’s 
investment in the Fund, with a limit based on the stock market 
value of Fund trust units. The purpose of this financing, 
which was included on the Corporation’s consolidated balance 
sheet at December 31, 2005, is to provide Boralex with greater 
financial flexibility in order to pursue its growth. 

On October 25, 2006, Boralex announced that it was  
pursuing a US$80 million debt financing for its U.S. subsi-
diary, intended primarily to help balance the Corporation’s 
financial structure on a geographical basis. Given the more 
favourable trends in the U.S. market in the past few months, 
especially in the RECs market, management is still assessing 
the suitability and terms of this potential financing. 

selected consolidated information for quarters and years ended december 31, 2006 and 2005 
(in thousands of dollars, except amounts per share and number of shares)
     three months ended fiscal years ended
     december 31 december 31 december 31 december 31
      2006  2005  2006  2005

Revenue from energy sales
Hydroelectric power stations   2,867  3,440  10,939  9,962
Wood-residue thermal power stations   19,891  20,511  71,126  78,474
Natural gas thermal power station   4,954  4,233  14,763  13,944
Wind power sites   7,727  2,122  23,174  6,316
Total    35,439  30,306  120,002  108,696

EBITDA
Hydroelectric power stations   1,974  2,251  7,481  6,453
Wood-residue thermal power stations   1,167  4,366  5,586  16,904
Natural gas thermal power station   1,322  885  5,405  2,700
Wind power sites   6,782  916  19,766  4,148
Corporate and eliminations   715  1,263  4,584  3,879 
Total    11,960  9,681  42,822  34,084

Net earnings   4,713  9,362  15,020  21,088
 per share (basic)   $0.16  $0.31  $0.50  $0.70 
 per share (diluted)   $0.15  $0.31  $0.49  $0.70 
 Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)   30,049,586  29,987,978  30,033,885  29,986,994
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additional information about non-gaap  
performance measurements

To assess the operating performance of its assets and reporting 
segments, Boralex uses EBITDA, which is not a performance 
measurement under GAAP. Management believes that EBITDA 
is a widely accepted financial indicator used by investors to 
assess the performance of a company, and its ability to gene-
rate cash through operations. However, since EBITDA is not 

a GAAP performance measurement, it may not be compara-
ble to similarly named measures used by other companies. 
Investors should not use EBITDA as an alternative criterion 
for net earnings, nor as an indicator of operating results or 
cash flows, nor as a parameter for measuring liquidity.

In the Boralex consolidated statement of earnings, EBITDA 
corresponds to the item Earnings before amortization.  
The following table reconciles EBITDA to the net earnings: 

     three months ended fiscal years ended
     december 31 december 31 december 31 december 31
(in thousands of dollars)   2006  2005  2006  2005

Net earnings   4,713  9,362  15,020  21,088
Non-controlling interest   42  (27)  168  98
Income tax recovery   (2,949)  (4,515)  (5,774)  (2,560)
Financial expenses   3,725  1,336  12,528  4,421
Amortization    6,429  3,525  20,880  11,037
EBITDA    11,960  9,681  42,822  34,084

analysis of operating results for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2006
The table below shows the main variances between revenue and EBITDA for 2006 and 2005. 

Analysis of major variances:
(in millions of dollars)     revenue from energy sales  ebitda

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2005       108.7  34.1
Start-up       18.4  15.4
Volume       1.0  2.1
Pricing        0.9  0.9
RECs        (1.9)  (1.9)
CO2 quota        -  2.3
Translation of self-sustaining foreign operations       (6.8)  (1.7)
Tax credits       -  0.3
Fuel costs       -  (8.3)
Maintenance and repairs       -  (0.3)
Share of the Fund’s results       -  1.1
Other        (0.3)  (1.2)
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2006       120.0  42.8
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Revenue from Energy Sales
Boralex’s revenue from energy sales grew $11.3 million or 10% 
to $120.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.  
The increase in the Canadian dollar versus the US dollar and 
Euro had an adverse $6.8 million impact on 2006 revenue; 
otherwise, growth would have been close to 17%.

Revenue growth stems mainly from the following:

>>   production volume increased 14% to 1,377,053 MWh  
in 2006 compared to 1,205,324 MWh in 2005, which 
generated additional revenue of $19.4 million. More than 
90% of that increase is due to the start up, at the very end of 
fiscal 2005, of three new wind power sites at Massif Central 
and Plouguin, France. The remainder of the increase stems 
mainly from higher productivity by the hydroelectric facili-
ties in the northeastern United States, due to favourable 
hydrology for most of the year; the acquisition in December 
of the wood-residue power station in Stacyville, Maine; 
and better productivity at the existing wind farms; and 

>>   for the period as a whole, the average selling price increased 
slightly, generating additional revenue of $0.9 million.  
The natural gas cogeneration plant benefited the most from 
higher steam and electricity prices in 2006. On the other 
hand, the hydroelectric and wood-residue power stations 
were affected by a decrease in their average selling price,  
particularly in the third and fourth quarters. Indeed, the 
second half of the year saw a significant drop in electricity 
prices in the northeastern U.S. markets compared to the 
higher levels of the summer and fall of 2005, when demand 
rose significantly because of a particularly hot summer, follo-
wed by two major hurricanes in the southern United States. 

Apart from the unfavourable impact of currency fluctuations, 
consolidated revenue for 2006 was negatively influenced by  
a $1.9 million decrease in REC sales in the wood-residue  
segment, caused by price weaknesses in the REC market in 
the first three quarters of 2006. 

(A more detailed analysis of changes in revenue for each  
segment is presented in Analysis of Segmented Results for the 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006.)

Other Revenue
Boralex reported $20.3 million in revenue other than energy 
sales in 2006, compared to $15.8 million in 2005.  
The increase of $4.5 million or 28% is explained by:
>>   a $2.3 million increase in the sale of excess CO2 quota by 

the natural gas facility in France, including the forward sale 
of its anticipated excess for 2007;

>>   a $1.1 million increase in Boralex’s share of the Fund’s 
results, since the Fund’s hydroelectric power stations  
benefited from good hydrology in 2006; and

>>   the recording of various other revenues, including compen-
sation from a wind-power equipment supplier for start-up 
delays caused by manufacturing defects, and the insurance 
payment related to the equipment failure at the Sissonville 
hydroelectric power station in the fourth quarter of 2005.

EBITDA
Consolidated EBITDA for fiscal 2006 amounted to 
$42.8 million compared to $34.1 million a year earlier, for a 
solid gain of $8.7 million or 26%. The EBITDA margin as a 
percentage of revenue was 36% compared to 31% the previous 
year. Note that without the adverse $1.7 million impact of 
currency fluctuations, consolidated EBITDA would have 
increased by 30%. 

This performance was due to four main factors: 

>>   higher production volume and revenue from energy sales 
added $17.5 million to EBITDA, stemming mainly from 
the start-up of the new wind farms and better productivity 
from the hydroelectric power stations;

>>   sales of excess CO2 quota from the natural gas cogeneration 
power station in France, including the sale of anticipated 
excess quota of 2007, generated additional EBITDA of 
$2.3 million compared to 2005;

>>   the rise in average selling prices had a direct impact on 
EBITDA, adding $0.9 million; and

>>   Boralex’s higher share in the Fund’s results resulted in  
additional EBITDA of $1.1 million.

On the other hand, in addition to the impact of currency 
fluctuations, EBITDA was affected by a number of adverse 
factors, primarily:

>>   a total increase of $8.3 million in the cost of fuel, attribu-
table mainly to the wood-residue segment and, to a lesser 
extent, to the increase in natural gas costs for the natural 
gas power station in France. The higher wood-residue cost 
is explained by two main factors: the rising cost of oil, 
which has a direct impact on fuel transportation costs, and 
the Corporation’s production strategy, whereby the wood- 
residue power stations are now using a better quality –  
and therefore more expensive – fuel than in the past. 
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However, this strategy produces significant savings by 
enabling the power stations to achieve a better burn rate 
and by reducing wear-and-tear on equipment, which  
will translate into lower maintenance and repair costs  
in the medium term; and

>>   a $1.9 million decrease in RECs sales, which has a direct 
impact on EBITDA.

A number of lesser factors also affected consolidated EBITDA, 
including an increase in U.S. renewable energy production tax 
credits due to an increase of the rate to $10 per MWh; a slight 
increase in maintenance and repair costs, notably in the wood-
residue segment; and a $0.3 million tax and fee adjustment 
following an agreement with the government of Québec on 
provincial tax regulations.

(A more detailed analysis of changes in EBITDA in each  
segment is presented in Analysis of Segmented Results for the 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006.)

Amortization, Financial Expenses, and Earnings Before Taxes
Amortization expenses totalled $20.9 million in 2006, compa-
red to $11.0 million in 2005. This increase is due mainly to 
the start-up of the Massif Central and Plouguin wind farms  
in December 2005, the investments in the second half of 
2005 to improve the availability of the wood-residue thermal 
power stations, and the various capital investments made 
during fiscal 2006. 

The debt-financing of investments over the past two fiscal 
years also accounts for the $8.1 million increase in financial 
expenses, which rose from $4.4 million in 2005 to $12.5 million 
in 2006. The start-up of the Massif Central and Plouguin faci-
lities, in particular, required close to $137 million in additional 
financing bearing interest at about 5%, while investments in 
the wood-residue thermal power stations in 2005 and 2006 
were financed with Boralex’s operating credit.

Including the combined increase of $18.0 million in  
amortization and financial expenses in 2006, Boralex posted  
a decrease of $9.2 million or 49% in Earnings before income 
taxes, which totalled $9.4 million in 2006 versus $18.6 million 
in 2005. Generally speaking, this decrease was due to the lower 
profit margins experienced by the wood-residue thermal power 
stations due to lower market prices for electricity and lower 
REC sales, combined with higher fuel costs.

Income Tax Recovery
Boralex recognized an income tax recovery of $5.8 million  
in 2006, compared to $2.6 million a year earlier. The larger 
recovery for 2006 is due mainly to the following factors:

>>   lower statutory tax rates in Canada ($2.3 million); 
>>   adjustment during the year of certain reserves for tax risks 

that did not materialize; and
>>   a larger than anticipated proportion of dividend income in 

distributions received from the Fund. Dividends from 
Canadian corporations are not taxable, therefore signifi-
cantly reducing the related tax expense for 2006.

Taking all jurisdictions into account, Boralex’s combined  
statutory tax rate is normally approximately 35%. However, 
the dividend portion of distributions from the Fund may vary 
depending on the amounts of U.S. dollars the Fund brings 
into Canada to pay its distributions. This factor could signi-
ficantly reduce Boralex’s consolidated tax rate. 

Net Earnings
Boralex ended fiscal 2006 with net earnings of $15.0 million 
or $0.49 per common share on a diluted basic, compared to 
$21.1 million or $0.70 per share in 2005. The weighted ave-
rage number of shares outstanding remained relatively 
unchanged at approximately 30 million.

In summary, Boralex reported significant growth in revenue and EBITDA in 2006 due to major expansion in the wind power segment,  
a good performance by the hydroelectric power stations and the sale of excess CO2 quota by the natural gas cogeneration plant in France. 
However, profitability in the wood-residue segment was adversely affected by a series of factors, including the higher cost of wood-residue  
fuel, the decline in electricity prices, the temporary weakness in the REC market in Connecticut, and the extended shutdown of Stratton  
due to successive equipment failures. The significant decrease in results for this segment was such that Boralex’s higher consolidated EBITDA 
could not absorb the increase in amortization and financing expenses resulting from the major expansion and upgrading of its asset base over  
the past two years. 
However, since the fourth quarter of 2006, the REC market has picked up and new power sale agreements have been signed by some facilities, 
which indicates results in the wood-residue segment should improve. This, combined with the optimal contribution from the wind farms in 
France, leads management to expect an increase in the Corporation’s consolidated results for fiscal 2007. 
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analysis of segmented results for the fiscal year 
ended december 31, 2006

Segment Breakdown for Revenue from the Sale of Energy 
and EBITDA
The major change in the composition of consolidated revenue 
and EBITDA during the year ended December 31, 2006 was 
the expansion of the wind power segment, whose contribu-
tion to energy revenue rose from 6% in 2005 to 19% in 2006. 
As a result, although wood-revenue production remains 
Boralex’s most important segment, its contribution to consoli-
dated revenue declined from 72% in 2005 to 60% in 2006. 
The third revenue stream is the natural gas cogeneration plant, 

which generated 12% of consolidated revenue in 2006, versus 
13% in 2005. Finally, the hydroelectric segment accounted for 
9% of consolidated revenue, the same percentage as in 2005.

In terms of operating profitability, the largest contribution 
came from the wind power segment, which generated 46% of 
consolidated EBITDA for fiscal 2006, compared to 12% in 
2005. Second is the hydroelectric segment, whose contribu-
tion to consolidated EBITDA was 17%, versus 19% in 2005. 
The contribution from the wood-residue segment dropped 
from 50% in 2005 to 13% in 2006, while that of the natural 
gas plant was 13%, compared to 8% a year earlier.

Wind Power Sites
Analysis of major variances:
(in millions of dollars)     revenue from energy sales  ebitda

Year ended December 31, 2005       6.3  4.1
Start-up       17.2  15.1
Volume       0.3  0.3
Translation of self-sustaining foreign operations       (0.3)  (0.3)
Other        (0.3)  0.6
Year ended December 31, 2006       23.2  19.8

During fiscal 2006, revenue from the wind power segment 
almost quadrupled to $23.2 million, compared to $6.3 million 
a year earlier. The segment generated 189,964 MWh in 2006, 
versus 45,695 MWh in 2005. This is largely due to the start-
up of two farms in Massif Central (57 MW) and one in 
Plouguin (8 MW), which were ramped up satisfactorily in 
2006, as well as an increase in the availability of the existing 
wind power sites due to increasingly effective and proactive 
technical management. 

However, in addition to more intense frost conditions than 
usual in the first quarter, wind conditions in the first half of 
2006 were weaker than a year earlier, particularly for Nibas, 

Chépy and Avignonet-Lauragais. They improved in the third 
quarter and even more so in the fourth quarter, such that 
wind conditions for 2006 as a whole were comparable to 
those in 2005 at Avignonet-Lauragais and better than in 2005 
at Chépy and Nibas. 

The wind power segment reported EBITDA of $19.8 million 
in 2006, almost five times higher than the $4.1 million reported 
in 2005. Excluding the fluctuations in the Canadian dollar 
versus the euro, EBITDA would have been $20.1 million. 
This excellent performance is primarily due to the increase in 
production volume and sales. 
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For fiscal 2006, Boralex’s hydroelectric power stations reported 
revenue of $10.9 million compared to $10.0 million in 2005, 
up 9%. Excluding the adverse impact of the currency transla-
tion on revenue from the U.S. power stations, actual growth 
would have been about 15%. This performance is mainly due 
to good water flows in the northeastern U.S. during much of 
2006. Boralex’s hydroelectric power stations thus generated 
138,518 MWh in 2006, which is not only 26% higher than 
the 109,761 MWh generated in 2005, but also exceeds the 
annual historical averages by 22%. In fact, in 2006, the five 
U.S. hydroelectric power stations recorded their best combi-
ned power generation since they were built in the late 1980’s. 

Note that the Warrensburg facility was offline for 15 weeks 
due to an equipment failure in August 2006. Management 
expects a favourable settlement from insurers to offset this 
shortfall, but no amount has been recognized for the time 
being. On the other hand, in the fourth quarter of 2006, 
Boralex received compensation from its insurers for a mecha-
nical failure that interrupted service from the Sissonville 
power station for several weeks in 2005. 

Furthermore, in addition to the unfavourable impact of 
currency fluctuations, revenue in the hydroelectric segment 
was down $0.6 million due to lower electricity prices on the 

northeastern U.S. open market. The average price obtained 
by the four U.S. hydroelectric power stations that trade on the 
open market was down 13% in 2006 compared to 2005.  
The decrease in the average price was particularly marked in 
the second half of the year compared to the high level in 2005.  
Note that the decline in electricity prices on the U.S. market 
in the past year is due to, among other things, lower natural 
gas prices, which strongly correlate with electricity prices.  
In addition, energy prices on the U.S. market were strongly 
inflated in the second and third quarters of 2005, due to 
higher demand related to the particularly hot summer and  
the effects on the market of the two major hurricanes that 
hit the Gulf of Mexico in September 2005. 

Annual EBITDA for the hydroelectric power stations  
totalled $7.5 million, up 15% over $6.5 million in 2005.  
Had the exchange rate remained constant, the increase in 
EBITDA would have been closer to 22%. Furthermore, if a 
positive adjustment of about $1 million in certain provisions 
and estimates is excluded from 2005 results, growth in 
EBITDA rises to 36%. The improvement is almost entirely 
due to increased production and lower maintenance costs.  
On the other hand, the lower average selling price for this  
segment resulted in a $0.6 million decrease in profitability. 

Hydroelectric Power Stations
Analysis of major variances:
(in millions of dollars)     revenue from energy sales  ebitda

Year ended December 31, 2005       10.0  6.5
Volume       2.0  2.0
Pricing        (0.6)  (0.6)
Translation of self-sustaining foreign operations       (0.6)  (0.4)
Maintenance and repairs       -  0.3
Other        0.1  (0.3)
Year ended December 31, 2006       10.9  7.5

Historical average for hydroelectric power generation
(in MWh)*  

Fourth quarter         30,440
Full year          113,322
(*) The historical average is calculated using all generation data for each hydroelectric power station, to the end of Boralex previous fiscal year.
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The wood-residue segment reported a $7.4 million or 9% 
decrease in energy sales, which stood at $71.1 million, compared 
to $78.5 million in 2005. However, excluding a $5.1 million 
decrease due to currency translation, revenue was down 
only 3%. 

Power generation in this segment was relatively stable at 
1,010,206 MWh in 2006, compared to 1,012,540 MWh in 
2005. The addition of the new Stacyville plant in December 
2006 offset the lower production at the other power stations, 
which primarily resulted from upgrading at the Livermore 
Falls facility in the fourth quarter, certain deliberate shutdowns 
over the course of the year due to lower electricity selling 
prices, and the extended shutdown of Stratton which expe-
rienced successive failures in its boiler tubes, leading to the 
equivalent of 75 days of downtime in the second quarter. 
During that time, Boralex inspected all of the boiler tubes  
and replaced those that showed signs of weakness, to prevent  
a recurrence. The Corporation is discussing this event with  
its insurer. Note also that the Fort Fairfield power station  
was struck by lighting, which led to a 38-day shutdown in  
the third quarter. As this event is covered by its insurers,  
it will not have a significant adverse financial impact on  
the Corporation.

Overall, productivity in this segment was satisfactory in 2006, 
as facilities now have more reliable access to wood residues, due 
to the supply strategy adopted by Boralex since 2004. Power 
generation in 2006 also benefited from Ashland’s greater 
availability since it was in its start-up phase in 2005.

Apart from currency fluctuations and the $0.9 million 

decrease due to lower average selling prices, the lower energy 
revenue in this segment stems primarily from the $1.9 million 
decrease in REC sales (excluding the impact of the exchange 
rate fluctuation of $0.6 million). REC sales amounted to 
$5.6 million (US$ 4.8 million) in 2006 ($3.9 million from 
Stratton and $1.7 million from Chateaugay), compared to 
REC sales of $8.1 million (US$ 6.7 million) by Stratton in 
2005. Given the price weaknesses in Connecticut’s REC mar-
ket during most of 2006, and since Boralex expected condi-
tions in this market to improve in 2007, it decided to delay 
until 2007 the sale of part of the RECs produced by Stratton  
in 2006. (Boralex has until June 15, 2007 to sell the RECs 
produced in 2006.) The market did start to improve at the end 
of 2006. As a result, Stratton was able to sell most of its RECs 
from 2006. It also signed firm contracts for most of its antici-
pated REC production in 2007. After year end, firm contracts 
were also signed to sell part of Stratton’s anticipated REC  
production for 2008 and 2009.

EBITDA in the wood-residue segment was down 
$11.3 million, or 67% in 2006 compared to 2005. This was 
mainly due to the $6.9 million increase in the cost of wood-
residue supplies, caused primarily by higher transportation 
costs (related to higher oil prices). However, the higher-quality 
fuel helped improve the burn rate, by reducing the amount of 
fuel required to generate each MWh. Other factors that con-
tributed to lower profitability in this segment were the lower 
REC sales, the lower average selling price and higher mainte-
nance costs, due to the preventive replacement of equipment 
at Livermore Falls in the fourth quarter. 

Wood-Residue Power Stations
Analysis of major variances:
(in millions of dollars) revenue from energy sales  ebitda

Year ended December 31, 2005       78.5  16.9
Start-up       1.2  0.4
Volume       (0.8)  (0.3)
Pricing        (0.9)  (0.9)
RECs        (1.9)  (1.9)
Capacity premium       0.1  0.1
Translation of self-sustaining foreign operations       (5.1)  (1.1)
Tax credits       -  0.3
Fuel costs       -  (6.9)
Maintenance and repairs       -  (0.6)
Other        -  (0.4)
Year ended December 31, 2006       71.1  5.6
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Natural-gas Cogeneration Power Station 
Analysis of major variances:
(in millions of dollars)     revenue from energy sales  ebitda

Year ended December 31, 2005       13.9  2.7
Volume       (0.6)  0.2
Pricing        2.2  2.2
CO2 quota       -  2.3
Translation of self-sustaining foreign operations       (0.8)  -
Natural gas cost       -  (1.4)
Other        0.1  (0.6)
Year ended December 31, 2006       14.8  5.4

For the year ended December 31, 2006, revenue from sales by 
the Blendecques natural gas plant rose 6% to $14.8 million 
compared to $13.9 million in 2005. The rise in the Canadian 
dollar versus the euro reduced revenue by $0.8 million due to 
translation into Canadian dollars. Excluding that impact, 
revenue would have grown by 12%.

As it did in 2005, Blendecques interrupted its cogeneration 
activities from April 1 to October 31, 2006 due to the high 
cost of natural gas it uses as fuel. During that period, the plant 
continued to serve its steam client from an auxiliary boiler. In 
fiscal 2006, it generated 38,365 MWh of electricity, compared 

to 37,328 MWh in 2005. However, it produced slightly less 
steam. The shortfall was largely offset by higher steam and 
electricity prices, the main reasons for revenue growth in 2006. 

In addition to increasing revenue from the sale of its excess 
CO2 quota by $2.3 million, to a total of $3.4 million (including 
the forward sale of its anticipated excess quota for 2007), 
Blendecques’s plant also benefited from higher prices, which 
added $2.2 million to its EBITDA. These two factors more 
than offset the $1.4 million increase in fuel costs. As a result, 
EBITDA for the natural gas cogeneration plant doubled, 
from $2.7 million in 2005 to $5.4 million in 2006. 

analysis of fourth quarter operating results for fiscal 2006
The table below shows the major variances between revenue from energy sales and EBITDA for the three-month periods ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005. 

Analysis of major variances:
(in millions of dollars)     revenue from energy sales  ebitda

Three-month period ended December 31, 2005       30.3  9.7
Start-up       6.8  5.6
Volume       (0.5)  0.6
Pricing        (2.7)  (2.7)
RECs        2.2  2.2
CO2 quota        -  0.2
Translation of self-sustaining foreign operations       (0.7)  -
Tax credits       -  (0.6)
Fuel costs       -  (0.4)
Maintenance and repairs       -  (1.9)
Share of the Fund’s results       -  (0.2)
Other        -  (0.5)
Three-month period December 31, 2006       35.4  12.0
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Revenue from Energy Sales
Boralex’s consolidated revenue from energy sales totalled 
$35.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2006 compared to 
$30.3 million in the same quarter of 2005, which represents 
an increase of $5.1 million or 17%. Note that the rise in the 
Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar and euro had a lower 
impact than in preceding quarters, reducing quarterly revenue 
from operations in the United States and France by $0.7 mil-
lion. Excluding currency fluctuations, revenue would have 
grown about 19%. As described in the summary of segmented 
results below, the increase in Boralex’s consolidated fourth 
quarter revenue derives mainly from the wind power segment, 
where revenue almost tripled thanks to the contribution of 
the three Massif Central and Plouguin sites. Revenue reported 
by the natural gas cogeneration plant also rose slightly, while 
revenue from the hydroelectric and wood-residue segments 
was down slighty, mainly due to lower electricity prices on  
the northeastern U.S. open market.

Overall, the increase in Boralex’s consolidated revenue in the 
fourth quarter of 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 is 
due to two factors: the Corporation’s expanded asset base since 
the previous year and the sale of RECs on the Connecticut and 
New York State markets. 

>>   First, the new sites generated an additional $6.8 million  
in revenue, including about $5.6 million from the Massif 
Central and Plouguin sites which started up in December, 
2005 and were gradually ramped up in 2006. The remaining 
$1.2 million is due to the December 2006 acquisition of the 
Stacyville wood-residue facility, which operated for a month 
under a short-term power sale agreement. These additions 
more than offset the slight decrease in power generation by 
the other wood-residue plants, which was mainly caused by 
the regular maintenance work at Livermore Falls, which was 
performed in the third quarter in 2005. In total, Boralex’s 
power generation was up 16% in the fourth quarter, from 
333,620 MWh in 2005 to 387,495 MWh in 2006.

>>   Second, Boralex received $2.2 million from the sale of 
RECs in the fourth quarter of 2006, while no REC sales 
were booked in the fourth quarter of 2005. The Chateaugay 
power station contributed $1.7 million to REC sales in the 
fourth quarter of 2006, having finalized its agreement with 
the state of New York, which took effect retroactively to 
April 1, 2006. The remaining $0.5 million comes from 
Stratton’s sale of part of its REC production for 2006, due 
to improved market conditions in Connecticut.

On the other hand, in addition to the $0.7 million revenue 
decrease caused by currency fluctuations, consolidated revenue in 
the fourth quarter was affected significantly by about $2.7 mil-
lion due to lower average electricity prices obtained by the U.S. 
facilities, notably the wood-residue thermal power stations.

On a segmented basis, changes in revenue for the fourth 
quarter of 2006 were as follows:

>>   Wind power sector almost quadrupled its quarterly revenue, 
which rose from $2.1 million in 2005 to $7.7 million in 
2006, due primarily to the start-up of the new Massif 
Central and Plouguin sites. To a lesser extent, this segment 
also benefited from higher power generation by existing sites, 
given the combined impact of good wind conditions during 
the period and improved productivity by the segment as a 
whole in France over the past year. Power generation in this 
segment thus rose from 14,083 MWh in the fourth quarter 
of 2005, to 61,922 MWh in the fourth quarter of 2006. 

>>   For the three-month period ended December 31, 2006,  
the hydroelectric power stations generated 13% more 
power than a year earlier, exceeding the historical fourth-
quarter average for this segment by 24%. The segment 
reported 37,865 MWh in the fourth quarter of 2006,  
compared to 33,640 MWh a year earlier, despite an equip-
ment breakdown at Warrensburg that took it offline for 
15 weeks. Management believes that the shortfall will be 
met by insurance. Higher production volume is due to 
good water flows and the fact that Sissonville was down  
for several days in 2005 following an equipment failure. 
Despite the increased production, quarterly revenue for this 
segment declined $0.5 million or 15% to $2.9 million, from 
$3.4 million a year earlier. The decrease is due to the lower 
average selling price resulting in part from lower natural 
gas prices, which are correlated with electricity prices, and 
partially offset by an increase in hydroelectric production in 
New England during the quarter. 

>>   Fourth-quarter revenue from the wood-residue power  
stations was down 3% or $0.6 million. However, excluding 
the adverse impact of the Canadian/U.S. dollar exchange 
rate, quarterly revenue was up slightly. The facilities’  
average selling price was down, resulting in a $2.3 million 
shortfall in revenue which was almost completely offset by 
$2.2 million in REC sales by Chateaugay and Stratton. 
Power generation in this segment was relatively stable, total-
ling 272,100 MWh in 2006, compared to 271,049 MWh 
in 2005. The addition of Stacyville in December mitigated 
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the lower production by Livermore Falls, which did semi-
annual maintenance work in the fourth quarter of 2006 
instead of in the third quarter as in 2005.

>>   Revenue from the natural gas cogeneration plant grew by 
about $0.7 million or 17%, mainly due to higher electri-
city and steam prices and a slightly positive impact from 
currency exchange. As in 2005, this facility interrupted its 
cogeneration activities from April 1 to October 31 because 
of the high cost of natural gas, while continuing to supply 
its steam client from an auxiliary boiler. It thus only 
reported power sales in the last two months of the fourth 
quarters in 2006 and 2005. As a result, production was  
relatively stable, at 15,608 MWh in 2006, compared to 
14,848 MWh in the fourth quarter of 2005. 

Other Revenue
In the fourth quarter, Boralex reported $4.5 million in reve-
nue other than revenue from the sale of energy, compared to 
$3.8 million a year earlier. The increase is due to various fac-
tors, including compensation from the wind turbine manu-
facturer for turbines that failed shortly after start-up in the 
first quarter, and the insurance settlement related to the equip-
ment failure in the fourth quarter 2005 at the Sissonville 
hydroelectric power station. Note that the slight decrease in 
Boralex’s share of the Fund’s results in the fourth quarter 
stems mainly from currency fluctuations and higher income 
taxes related to the Fund’s results. 

EBITDA
Consolidated EBITDA of $12.0 million for the fourth quarter 
was up $2.3 million or 24% over EBITDA of $9.7 million in 
the fourth quarter of 2005. This performance is primarily due 
to the marked increase in the contribution from the wind power 
segment, which, combined with the higher EBITDA from  
the natural gas cogeneration plant, helped offset the significant 
reduction in profitability by the wood-residue segment and  
the slightly lower profitability in the hydroelectric segment. 

On a segmented basis, the changes in quarterly EBITDA  
were as follows:

>>   EBITDA for the wind power segment jumped from 
$0.9 million in 2005, to $6.8 million in 2006, making the 
biggest contribution to Boralex’s consolidated quarterly 
EBITDA. This performance derives mainly from the start-
up of its three new sites, as well as higher power generation 
from its existing sites. 

>>   EBITDA for the hydroelectric segment was down 

$0.3 million, or 13%, to $2.0 million, compared to 
$2.3 million a year earlier, due mainly to lower average 
electricity prices.

>>   EBITDA for the wood-residue segment was down 
$3.2 million, from $4.4 million in 2005 to $1.2 million in 
2006. The decrease stems mainly from two factors, which 
combined, lowered EBITDA by $4.4 million: lower prices 
on the northeastern U.S. open market, and maintenance 
and upgrading costs incurred at Livermore Falls in the 
fourth quarter whereas they took place in the third quarter 
in 2005. Due to low electricity prices during the period, the 
Corporation took advantage of the time to preventively 
replace equipment in order to avoid future breakdowns.  
In addition, the tax credits for renewable energy produc-
tion were lower because they were monetized at a slight 
discount starting in December 2006. Fuel costs did not 
have a significant impact on the wood-residue segment in 
the fourth quarter. The adverse impact of these factors was 
partially offset by the sale of RECs.

>>   EBITDA for the natural gas cogeneration plant increased 
$0.4 million, from $0.9 million in 2005 to $1.3 million in 
2006, due to higher electricity and steam prices. In conjunc-
tion with favourable currency fluctuations, these factors 
more than compensated for the higher cost of natural gas.

Amortization, Financial Expenses and Income Taxes
Because of the investments of the past 12 months, primarily 
to start-up the Massif Central and Plouguin wind farms, 
Boralex’s amortization expenses almost doubled to $6.4 million 
in the fourth quarter of 2006, compared to $3.5 million for 
the same period a year earlier. For the same reason, financial 
expenses increased by $2.4 million to $3.7 million in the 
fourth quarter of 2006. 

Given the combined increase of $5.3 million in amortiza-
tion and financial expenses for the period, Boralex reported 
earnings before income taxes of $1.8 million in 2006, com-
pared to $4.8 million a year earlier. 

Income Tax Recovery
In the fourth quarter of 2006, Boralex recognized an income 
tax recovery of $2.9 million compared to $4.5 million for the 
same quarter in 2005. As discussed in the 2006 annual analy-
sis, the Corporation benefited from a higher than anticipated 
percentage of dividends in the distribution it received from 
the Fund. Since Canadian corporations are not taxed on divi-
dends from Canadian sources, the rate at which Boralex was 
taxed on that income was significantly reduced. Note that in 
the fourth quarter of 2005, Boralex decreased its provision for 
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tax risk by about $4.4 million after realizing that certain tax 
risks would not materialize. Excluding these unusual items, and 
the effect of recognizing renewable energy income tax credits, 
the Corporation’s combined income tax rate should be about 
35%, which is the average of the American, French and 
Canadian rates (including provincial taxes).

Net Earnings
Boralex thus closed the fourth quarter of 2006 with net earnings 
of $4.7 million, or $0.15 per share on a diluted basis compared 
to $9.4 million, or $0.31 per share, for the same quarter in 
2005. The weighted average number of shares outstanding 
remained about the same for both periods at about 30 million.

Boralex reported a significant increase in revenue and operating income in the fourth quarter of 2006, primarily due to the strong expansion 
during the year in the wind power segment in France, combined with higher demand and prices in the U.S. REC markets. However, electricity 
prices in the northeastern U.S. were lower than the relatively high levels of 2005, resulting in lower operating profitability for the hydroelectric 
segment and, particularly, the wood-residue segments. Also, a major upgrade was carried out at one of the wood-residue power stations. 
Management believes that the REC markets in which two of its wood-residue power stations participate will continue to improve in future 
quarters. This should result in financial benefits for the Corporation, given its position as a leading producer of renewable energy in 
North America.

analysis of cash flows
Operating Activities
In the fourth quarter of 2006, cash flows from operations 
amounted to $7.9 million versus $10.1 million for the same 
quarter in 2005. The decrease was mainly due to lower net 
earnings. The change in non-cash working capital balances 
required cash assets of $2.4 million, due mainly to the 
increase in accounts receivable. The latter included $1.7 million 
in receivables from the sale of RECs by the Chateaugay power 
station. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the change in non-cash 
working capital balances required $12.0 million, due, primarily, 
to the strong growth in the Corporation’s activities during 
that period, which increased accounts receivable. As a result, 
operating activities in the fourth quarter of 2006 generated 
net cash of $5.6 million, whereas in 2005 they required 
$1.9 million.

For fiscal 2006 as a whole, cash flows from operations  
totalled $24.5 million compared to $26.2 million in 2005. 
The decrease is due to lower operating income in the wood-
residue segment, which was not completely offset by the 
increase in operating earnings (after interest) from operations 
in France. The change in non-cash working capital balances 
required cash assets of $10.7 million in 2006, primarily rela-
ted to payments to start and complete various projects during 
the year, including final payments for construction of the 
Massif Central and Plouguin sites. The change in non-cash 
working capital balances required $6.9 million in 2005, due 
in part to the strong growth in activities.

As a result, operating activities for fiscal 2006 generated net 
cash flows of $13.8 million, compared to $19.3 million in 2005.

Investing Activities
In the fourth quarter of 2006, Boralex invested $4.9 million, 
including $3.6 million to acquire the wood-residue facility in 
Stacyville and $1.5 million to purchase capital assets, acquired 
primarily to maintain the wood-residue power stations and 
continue current work on future wind farms. During the 
same period in 2005, the Corporation invested $27.3 million, 
primarily to acquire, develop, and start-up the new wind 
farms in France. 

For fiscal 2006 as a whole, Boralex invested a total of 
$33.7 million, compared to $157.0 million in the previous 
year. The main investments of 2006 included some $9.7 mil-
lion for the expansion of the wind power segment in France, 
including the acquisition of capital assets associated primarily 
with the development of the St-Agrève wind farm ($9.5 mil-
lion), the repurchase of minority interests of the Massif 
Central and Avignonet-Lauragais projects ($3.2 million),  
and the payment of reserve amounts required for the financing 
of the Massif Central projects ($6.6 million). The balance was 
invested in the wood-residue segment, more specifically to 
acquire the Stacyville power station ($3.6 million), to purchase 
rolling stock and production equipment as part of regular 
spring and fall maintenance ($8.7 million), to purchase 
equipment to be leased to suppliers ($2.2 million), and  
to repay $0.9 million associated with this equipment. 

boralex 2006 Annual Report

34
boralex 2006 Annual Report

35



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

In 2005, in addition to the acquisition and construction  
of the Massif Central and Plouguin wind sites (total invest-
ment of $111.6 million), Boralex invested a net amount  
of $22.2 million in its wood-residue power stations, which 
included regular maintenance, equipment upgrades to 
improve performance and the purchase of equipment to  
be leased to wood-residue suppliers. 

Financing Activities
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, on December 1, 
2006, the Corporation closed a major transaction with a U.S. 
investor involving the monetization of renewable energy  
production tax credits to which the U.S. wood-residue ther-
mal power stations will be entitled up to 2009. As part of  
this transaction, Boralex received a first cash payment of 
$16.7 million (US$14.5 million). Among other things, this 
amount was used to finance the purchase of the Stacyville 
power station and to build up the working capital of Boralex’s 
U.S. subsidiary. The monetization program also includes 
future payments of $14.9 million (US$12.8 million) contin-
gent on the delivery of the tax credits. (See Highlights of  
the Past Two Fiscal Years for more detailed information.)  
The total financing cost associated with this transaction 
amounted to about $5.8 million, of which $4.4 million  
was paid out in the fourth quarter.

On the other hand, Boralex recorded a net reduction of 
$3.4 million in long-term debt during the quarter. As a result, 
financing activities for the period generated total net cash assets 
of $8.9 million. In the fourth quarter of 2005, this amount 
was $30.3 million, as Boralex had drawn $29.2 million on  
its long-term debt to build the sites at Massif Central and 
Plouguin, increased the use of bank loans and advances by 
$6.2 million to upgrade its wood-residue power stations,  
and retired $5.2 million of its long-term debt. 

Taking into account the translation adjustment on cash and 
cash equivalents as well, fourth quarter cash flows generated 
total net cash assets of $10.2 million.

For fiscal 2006 as a whole, financing activities generated  
cash assets of $22.0 million ($10.9 million of which came from 
the monetization transaction described above), compared to 
$144.1 million in 2005 ($136.1 million of which came from 
the increase in long-term debt to finance the new Massif 
Central and Plouguin wind farms). 

On January 27, 2006, Boralex finalized an agreement for 
$85 million in long-term financing to replace the revolving  
credit issued in 2004 for an initial amount of $65 million.  
The new arrangement consists of a three-year revolving credit 

facility with two one-year renewal options. Like the initial 
revolving credit, this credit is secured by Boralex’s investment 
in the Fund, to a limit based on the market value of the Fund’s 
trust units. Accordingly, amounts borrowed cannot exceed  
a percentage of the market value of the investment, or the  
lenders may demand repayment of a portion of the borrowed 
amounts. This instrument bears interest at a rate that varies 
with changes in the bankers’ acceptance rate adjusted by a 
margin that varies with the ratio by which the investment in 
the Fund covers the debt.

During fiscal 2006, Boralex used this new rotating credit 
facility to retire $40.8 million drawn on the previous line of 
credit. As well, Boralex began repaying the debt incurred for 
the Massif Central and Plouguin projects in regular instal-
ments, for a total of $11.2 million in 2006 ($3.6 million in 
the fourth quarter). Boralex also drew the balance of its 
authorized loans for the Massif Central and Plouguin projects, 
for a total of $11.6 million, and began drawing funds for the 
St-Agrève project, for a total of $8.4 million ($1.8 million  
in the fourth quarter). The amounts drawn on the rotating 
credit facility since the beginning of 2006 total $8.7 million. 
In 2005, most of the increase in long-term debt consisted of 
amounts drawn for the Massif Central and Plouguin projects. 

Financing expenses of $1.2 million in 2006 (excluding those 
associated with the renewable energy tax credit monetization 
transaction) are related to the new rotating credit arrangement 
and the second fee payment associated with the €190 million 
master credit agreement signed in 2005. 

Lastly, in the first half of 2006, Boralex issued shares for a total 
of $0.3 million following the exercice of options by employees. 

In summary, total cash flows in fiscal 2006, net of transla-
tion adjustments on cash and cash equivalents, generated cash 
and cash equivalents of $3.3 million, leaving an available bal-
ance of $13.9 million at December 31, 2006, compared to 
$10.6 million a year earlier.

financial position as at december 31, 2006 
General
The changes in Boralex’s financial position between  
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006 primarily  
reflect the following factors:

>>   continued expansion in the wind power segment and  
long-term debt financing;

>>   the payment of suppliers and the start of debt repayments 
associated with wind power development;

>>   use of the Corporation’s cash on hand to finance its  
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immediate operational needs, notably the major upgrade 
carried out in the wood-residue segment; and

>>   the closing of the monetization transaction for U.S.  
renewable energy production tax credits in the wood- 
residue segment in December 2006. 

Assets
As at December 31, 2006, total assets amounted to 
$478.4 million compared to $429.5 million a year earlier. 
This increase of $48.9 million or 11% is due to the following:

>>   expansion in the wind power segment, with investments of 
$9.7 million in 2006 ($16.3 million including cash paid  
into reserve accounts for long-term debt is included); and

>>   investments of some $12.3 million in the wood-residue 
segment, used to acquire one power station, to carry out 
spring and fall maintenance, and to purchase equipment. 
Also in the wood-residue segment, the Corporation bene-
fited from a net cash inflow of $10.9 million related to the 
monetization of renewable energy production tax credits. 
Prior to this transaction, the Corporation also had earned 
$10.6 million in renewable energy tax credits for the first 
11 months of 2006.

Working Capital
At the end of fiscal 2006, Boralex’s working capital showed a 
deficit of $14.6 million, compared to a deficit of $18.6 million 
at December 31, 2005. It should be noted that the current 
portion of long-term debt includes a bridge loan that the 
Corporation expects to pay down in 2007. The variation in 
deficit is due to many factors, including:

>>   receipt of proceeds from the renewable energy tax credit 
monetization transaction in the wood-residue segment;

>>   final disbursements for construction projects finished at 
the end of December 2005 using the proceeds from the 
associated debt financing;

>>   use of future income tax assets, in this case income tax 
loss carryforwards, to reduce income tax payable follow-
ing the monetization transaction;

>>   cash payments to reserves required with respect to credit 
arrangements; and

>>   the rise of the euro against the Canadian dollar, which 
increased the current portion of long-term debt.

At December 31, 2006, non-cash working capital (i.e. before 
cash and cash-equivalents, loans and advances, and the current 
portion of long-term debt) reached $13.3 million compared 
to $9.8 million on December 31, 2005. 

Total Debt and Shareholders’ Equity
Between December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006,  
the Corporation’s total debt rose from $203.8 million 
($193.2 million net of cash) to $234.3 million ($220.4 million 
net of cash) due mainly to the funds drawn for the Massif 
Central, Plouguin, and St-Agrève projects. As no new projects 
were announced in fiscal 2006, the Corporation still has, until 
December 31, 2008, an unused balance of €160.2 million 
from the €190 million master credit agreement, which gives 
Boralex considerable latitude to initiate new wind power pro-
jects in France. At current construction prices, this amount 
would cover projects totalling more than 100 MW. 

Given Boralex’s share price, which was $10.40 at December 
31, 2006, the total debt to market capitalization ratio was 
75% at that date, compared to 81% at December 31, 2005, 
when the share price was $8.39. Shareholders’ equity grew by 
$18.4 million during fiscal 2006, due mainly to net earnings 
for the period and to a decrease in cumulative translation 
adjustments associated with the rise of the euro against the 
Canadian dollar. At year end, equity totalled $183.6 million, 
or about $6.11 per share.

In the second quarter of 2006, the U.S. term loan was 
renewed until May 1, 2007. At December 31, 2006, the loan 
balance was $5.0 million (US$4.3 million). Boralex also 
extended, until June 30, 2007, its €15.9 million bridge loan 
from a French bank to build the Massif Central project. 
In 2006, the Corporation issued three letters of guarantee on 
its operating credit for a total of $26.6 million, most of which 
was used to secure the bridge loan. At the end of the fourth 
quarter, the total of amounts drawn on Boralex’s operating 
credit was $49.5 million. The drop in value of Fund units  
following the announcement of federal government plans to 
amend certain provisions of the Income Tax Act with respect  
to income trusts has reduced the financing capacity of this 
operating credit. At December 31, 2006, $1.3 million of this 
credit was still available. The Corporation also had cash on 
hand of $13.9 million and is currently in negotiation to 
reduce the bridge loan and consequently, the letter of credits 
required under that bridge loan for $10 to $15 million.
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Deferred Revenue
On the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet, the conside-
ration of $16.7 million received on December 1, 2006 as part 
of the monetization of U.S. renewable energy production tax 
credits for the U.S. wood-residue thermal power stations is 
shown as a long-term liability under the heading Deferred 
Revenue. This deferred revenue will be recognized incremen-
tally in the consolidated statements of earnings as the tax cre-
dits are delivered to investors. Thus, revenue of $0.4 million 
was recognized between December 1 and December 31, 2006. 
It should be noted that in the event that insufficient tax credits 
were earned, the Corporation would have to repay the unear-
ned portion of this revenue. However, long-term forecasts 
indicate that production levels will be high enough to preclude 
this contingency.

outlook for 2007
Boralex management is confident about the Corporation’s 
financial performance in fiscal 2007 given the expected im-
provement in results for the wood-residue segment and a 
stronger contribution from the wind power segment; in 2006, 
a significant portion of the assets in the wind segment were 
still being started up. 

Wood-Residue Segment
Management is expecting better results in this segment in 
2007, although it is not anticipating major price increases in 
the northeastern U.S. open market, and it expects that wood-
residue fuel prices will remain high.

However, the wood-residue segment will benefit from the 
upward trend in demand and prices in the Connecticut RECs 
market that took hold in the fourth quarter of 2006. It is 
management’s opinion that this trend will continue in 2007 
and future years, primarily because the state of Connecticut 
(where Stratton power station is qualified to sell RECs) re-
quires electricity distributors to carry a minimum percentage 
of renewable energy, and in 2010 that percentage will rise to 7%, 
compared to 2% in 2006. Thus, in addition to signing firm 
contracts to sell most of the RECs it expects to produce in 2007, 
Stratton recently signed firm contracts for the forward sale of 
part of its anticipated RECs production for 2008 and 2009. 
To date, these forward sales total more than US$13 million for 
Stratton. Also, the Chateaugay power station, which qualified 
for the RECs market in New York State in February 2006,  
has signed an agreement with the New York State government, 
effective April 1, 2006, which entitles it to payment if energy 
prices on the New York open market are not high enough  
for Chateaugay to make a reasonable return. This provides 

Chateaugay with additional operational security. Boralex is 
currently evaluating its options with respect to its other U.S. 
power stations. 

Other significant developments have also occurred recently 
in the wood-residue segment that will help improve its results, 
in particular the renewal, effective January 1, 2007, of two-year 
power sale agreements for Ashland and Fort Fairfield, with 
terms that better reflect current market conditions. This will 
improve the profitability of these facilities along with the ave-
rage selling price per MWh in the wood-residue segment. In 
addition, forward sale contracts were signed for a significant 
part of the planned production by Stratton and Livermore 
Falls for 2007, which will help secure their revenue. Boralex 
has also begun to take advantage of the Forward Capacity 
Market, a new market that allows energy producers to receive 
a monthly fee for committing to maintain their current capa-
city. This new product will generate more than $4 million in 
2007 and 2008. Thereafter the mechanism will be subject to 
the laws of supply and demand, which could represent an 
interesting revenue opportunity for Boralex.

Lastly, Boralex is continuing its efforts to improve the 
availability, quality and cost of wood residues, and to optimize 
power station productivity and efficiency. The cost per tonne 
of wood residue has risen significantly in the past few years, 
mainly due to higher oil prices, which affect transportation 
charges, and the use of higher-quality residues. Boralex is 
continually trying to find more cost-effective solutions. With 
respect to fuel transportation expenses, Boralex is trying to 
exert more control over wood-residue origins, to reduce trans-
portation distances. Since 2004, Boralex has made major 
investments in mobile wood-grinding equipment that makes 
it possible to harvest, at locations close to power stations, 
more than a third of their annual fuel requirements. Although 
the power stations are using higher quality and more expen-
sive fuel than in the past, this generates significant savings by 
enabling the power stations to achieve a better burn rate and 
by reducing wear-and-tear on equipment, which will translate 
into lower maintenance and repair costs in the medium term. 
Overall, the supply and production strategies implemented 
since 2004 have enabled Boralex to ensure a stable wood- 
residue supply for its facilities. 

Furthermore, note that following the monetization of 
renewable energy production tax credits, the wood-residue 
segment will cash tax benefits based on the amount of power 
generated by its wood-residue facilities over the next three 
years. This transaction gives it greater financial flexibility  
for further growth.
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Wind Power Segment
Management also expects that in 2007, wind power will 
contribute more to Boralex’s revenue and profitability, since 
the new wind farms started up at Massif Central and Plouguin 
in 2006 will be making a full contribution in 2007. A new 
12-MW wind farm will also be started in mid-year, and  
capacity at an existing site will be expanded later in the year. 
Because the average price for electricity in France is higher than 
in North America, more power generation in this segment will 
have a positive impact on Boralex’s profitability. This segment 
will also benefit from the increasingly proactive and effective 
technical management of Boralex’s wind power facilities, which 
has improved the wind-farm availability rate and resulted in 
new preventive measures to, for example, counter the effect of 
icing. In 2006, a state-of-the-art remote management centre 
was set up at Blendecques, in France, to which all of Boralex’s 
facilities are now linked. Sophisticated tools to monitor and 
communicate the real-time weather conditions and perfor-
mance of wind turbines have also been set up.

In the longer term, the French government has passed  
legislation to promote wind power, as part of its plans to 
increase wind power tenfold within the next ten years.  
This is encouraging the Corporation to pursue an ambitious 
investment strategy in France, where it aims to substantially 
increase its installed capacity. Growth opportunities will also 
be explored in other countries in Europe. 

In partnership with Gaz Métro and the Séminaire de Québec, 
Boralex is studying the possibility of setting up a wind farm 
with a capacity of more than 400 MW on the Seigneurie de 
Beaupré lands in Québec. This project will be submitted this 
year to Hydro-Québec Distribution in response to their call 
for bids for an additional 2,000 MW issued in 2005.  

The many studies conducted to date on this vast and exceptio-
nally well-located site confirm its excellent potential. 

Hydroelectric Segment
The hydroelectric power stations benefited from exceptional 
hydrological conditions in 2006. Management wishes to point 
out, however, that the performance in 2006 is not indicative 
of a trend, especially since its hydroelectric power stations do 
not have reservoirs to regulate water flows. However, given the 
nature of their operations and cost structure, Boralex’s hydroe-
lectric power stations have been historically reliable sources of 
revenue and profits.

In June 2006, Boralex announced the projected acquisition 
of a sixth hydroelectric power station in New York State, but 
due diligence led to the rejection of this acquisition.

Natural-Gas Cogeneration Plant
Given that the cost of natural gas is still high, management 
expects to shut down the cogeneration equipment at this faci-
lity in 2007 from April to October for the third year in a row. 
An auxiliary boiler will be used to supply steam to the indus-
trial client. This decision will be re-evaluated if natural gas 
prices drop significantly and if the plant’s revenue margin  
is sufficient to justify the operating costs. Note that in 2007 
there will be a shortfall in the sale of CO2 quota by this facility, 
as the excess quota for 2007 was sold in 2006. Management 
expects, however, that this segment will continue to make a 
positive contribution to Boralex’s profitability, due to current 
electricity and steam prices in France, and the fact that the 
plant has a natural gas supply contract that protects its revenue 
margin for the next fiscal year.

Overall, due to the expected recovery in the wood-residue segment and the expansion of its wind power segment, Boralex anticipates significant 
growth in revenue, profits and cash flow from operations in the coming quarters. Combined with its cash assets, this growth should enable the 
Corporation to continue to provide for its normal cash requirements, to strengthen its financial position and to pursue its other expansion plans. 
Boralex does not plan, in the short term, to pay dividends on its Class A shares; its policy is to reserve its cash assets for growth projects.  
The outlook for Boralex is also favourable in the longer term, given the quality and diversification of its assets and its expertise in renewable 
energy generation. In general, Boralex will continue to explore opportunities that arise in its fields of expertise, while maintaining its focus  
on the responsible management of operating costs and business risks.
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capital stock information
As at December 31, 2006, Boralex’s capital stock consisted of 
30,049,586 Class A shares issued and outstanding (29,989,398 
as at December 31, 2005). During 2006, employees exercised 
a total of 60,188 share purchase options, and 7,485 options 
were cancelled. In addition, 297,664 new options were issued 
to members of Boralex’s senior management. 

As at December 31, 2006, share purchase options numbered 
1,176,106, of which 565,576 can be exercised at an average 
strike price of $4.84.

normal course issuer bid
On June 12, 2006, Boralex announced its intention to begin 
a normal course issuer bid starting on June 14, 2006 and 
ending on June 13, 2007. The normal course issuer bid will 
enable Boralex to acquire up to 1,500,000 Class A Shares, 
representing about 5% of Boralex’s 30,049,586 issued and 
outstanding Class A Shares as at May 31, 2006. Purchases 
pursuant to the normal course issuer bid will take place as 
part of Boralex’s normal activities, through the Toronto Stock 
Exchange. The Class A Shares purchased will be cancelled.  
As at December 31, 2006, Boralex had not purchased any 
Class A Shares under this program. 

financial instruments
There has been no significant change in the Corporation’s risk 
management strategy since December 31, 2005.

Market Risk
To mitigate its risk related to price fluctuations of electricity 
in the U.S. market, the Corporation has signed fixed-price 
contracts. A significant portion of these contracts requires  
the physical delivery of electricity in order for compensation 
to take place. However, it may be more efficient to arrange 
financial forward contracts that do not require delivery of 
electricity. The Corporation’s forward contracts are designated 
as a hedge of the variable cash flows related to future electricity 
sales. The Corporation documents these hedging relationships 
throughout their existence to ensure that they remain highly 
efficient. Under hedge accounting rules, these instruments are 
not presented on the Corporation’s balance sheet. 
As at December 31, 2006, the Corporation had four hedging 
contracts covering total generation of 227,064 MWh for 
periods ranging from 7 to 27 months. Their favourable fair 
value as at that date is $2.8 million.

Interest Rate Risk
Since a significant proportion of the Corporation’s debt bears 
interest at variable rates, financial swaps were arranged in order 
to fix a portion of the interest. These financial instruments act 
as a cash flow hedge on the variable interest paid on certain 
variable-interest debt. As with the electricity price swaps  
discussed above, the Corporation documents these hedging 
relationships to make sure that they remain highly efficient. 
Note that some swaps were in a situation of overcompensa-
tion for the item covered, however, the effect was negligible.

As at December 31, 2006, the Corporation has arranged 
interest rate swaps for a notional amount of $135.7 million, 
with a favourable fair value of $2.4 million. 

risks and uncertainties
Risk Related to Operations
Revenue generated by power stations is proportional to the 
amount of electrical power they produce. If power stations 
require longer downtime than expected for maintenance and 
repair, or if electricity production is interrupted for other 
reasons, it could have a negative effect on the Corporation’s 
revenue and profitability.

With the exception of its Canadian and European power 
stations, along with one hydroelectric power station in the 
U.S., all of which have long-term power sale agreements, and 
two wood-residue power stations that have fixed-price two-
year contracts, eight of the power stations operated by Boralex 
sell their electricity under short-term contracts (less than a 
year) or on the open market. Electricity prices vary depending 
on supply, demand and certain external factors. As a result, 
prices may fall too low for the power stations to turn in an 
operating profit. Boralex has implemented a hedging strategy 
to reduce this risk, as discussed above.

The accessibility, availability and cost of raw materials 
represent risk factors for the Corporation. For instance, the 
performance of hydroelectric power stations can be affected 
by the amount of water flow. Thermal and cogeneration 
power stations are dependent on sufficient and affordable  
supplies of wood residue and natural gas. The Corporation 
reduces this risk by establishing partnerships with suppliers 
and, in the case of wood residue, by seeking out alternatives 
to virgin residue as fuel, as well as by adopting storage strate-
gies that will help to avoid purchasing during times when raw 
materials are scarce and prices are therefore high.
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Foreign Exchange Risk
The Corporation is exposed to foreign exchange risk through 
certain operations that require foreign currency translations. 
More specifically, a significant portion of the fuel consumed 
by its U.S. wood-residue power stations is denominated in 
Canadian dollar. Apart from this item, most transactions take 
place in the local currency of the power stations.

With respect to currency translation for its foreign subsi-
diaries, only two of the 21 power stations owned by Boralex 
are located in Canada, whereas eleven are in the United States 
and eight in France. Since all subsidiaries are self-sustaining, 
the impact of exchange-rate fluctuations reflects on the 
Corporation’s net investment in its subsidiaries and variances 
are reported in shareholders’ equity, not the statement of  
earning, until the Corporation repatriates funds to Canada.

Credit Risk
The Corporation has only a few clients, but their credit ratings 
are in general very high, given that in Québec and France the 
electricity market is limited to public monopolies. In the case 
of steam sales in France, where this energy is used in the 
papermaking process, the customer is in the private sector, 
which makes the credit risk slightly higher. In the U.S., the 
market is more deregulated and a large proportion of the 
Corporation’s business is done with regional producers’ asso-
ciations such as the NEEPOOL for the New England state 
market and the NYISO for the New York state market. Both 
organizations have very strong credit ratings. The Corporation 
can also reach private agreements directly with energy marke-
ters. These customers are usually very large corporations with 
Investment Grade credit ratings. The Corporation regularly 
monitors the financial condition of these customers.

The Corporation’s counterparties for derivative instruments 
are also large corporations. Before entering into a derivative 
transaction, the Corporation checks the counterparty’s credit 
rating and assesses the overall risk based on the counterparty’s 
weight within the Corporation’s portfolio. Should a signifi-
cant credit rating downgrade or overly heavy weighting make 
this analysis unfavourable, the transaction is not completed. 
Furthermore, if a company does not have a public credit  
rating, the Corporation assesses the risk and may require 
financial guarantees.

Finally, the Corporation is exposed to a credit risk with 
respect to its lease-financing contracts. To reduce this risk, the 
Corporation regularly evaluates supplier performance to see  
if any measures are required. The Corporation also visits the 
wood-chip production sites from time to time to check the 
condition of equipment. If a supplier’s credit were to become 
doubtful and an acceptable plan of action could not be arran-
ged, the Corporation would have access to the underlying 
assets, which could then be transferred to another supplier with 
better credit. In such a case, the Corporation would re-value the 
assets based on the lower of the book value or fair market value.

Interest Rate Risk
The Corporation is carrying certain long-term debts bearing 
interest at variable rates. As at December 31, 2006, approxi-
mately 88% of long-term debt issued bears interest at variable 
rates, as do the Corporation’s bank loans and advances. A sharp 
increase in interest rates in the future could affect the liquid 
assets available for the Corporation’s development projects.  
As discussed in note 8 of the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2006, the Corporation has 
used interest rate swaps to reduce its risk by reducing its expo-
sure to interest rate fluctuations to 35% of total debt. Note 
that some swaps were in a situation of overcompensation for 
the item covered, however, the effect was negligeable.

The Corporation does not plan to sell these instruments, since 
they were entered into in order to reduce the Corporation’s risk 
arising from interest rate fluctuations. Therefore, the fact that the 
fair value is favourable only indicates that forward interest rates 
have risen; it does not reflect on the effectiveness of the instru-
ment as part of the Corporation’s risk management strategy.

Possible Change in Canadian Tax Treatment of Income Trusts
Following the announcement by the federal government in 
October 2006 of a proposed tax treatment of income trusts, 
slated to take effect in 2011, the Fund set up an independant  
committee to evaluate the options available to it. The Fund 
has announced on March 2, 2007 that it has resolved to com-
mence a process to solicit proposals leading to a potential sale 
of, or merger with, the Fund. Boralex’s shareholders will be 
informed in a timely manner of any important development 
in this issue and its impact on Boralex.
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contractual obligations and other commitments
Commitment in Relation to the Fund
The Corporation has committed under the terms of a mana-
gement agreement ending February 19, 2022 with renewable 
successive five-years terms, to provide operation, supervision, 
maintenance, security, management and administration services 
for eight power stations. These services cover all employee 
wages, salaries and benefits related to these facilities, as well as 
the use of the Corporation’s centralized control system. When 
the Fund was created in 2002, the annual fee for these services 
was set at $4,386,000, payable to the Corporation in monthly 
instalments. Since then, the fee has been indexed annually based 
on the Consumer Price Index for the preceding 12 months. 
For 2006, the revenue from this agreement was $5,165,000 
($5,064,000 in 2005).

The Corporation has committed to provide, according to 
terms similar to those described above, the complete manage-
ment of two hydroelectric power stations located in the State 
of New York (the “Adirondack power stations”) and owned by 
the Fund. More specifically, the amounts payable under this 
agreement are limited to operating expenses and monthly com-
pensation to the Corporation covering the employee wages, 
salaries and benefits related to the operation, supervision, 
maintenance, security, management and administration of the 
Adirondack power stations, as well as their overhead expenses. 
Revenue from this agreement was $292,000 in 2006 ($293,000 
in 2005). This agreement will end in 2023 and is renewable for 
additional five-years terms at the option of Boralex, the manager.

Other Commitments and Contingencies 
In addition to the commitments related to the Fund, the 
Corporation is committed to the following:

Under a long-term contract expiring in 2027, the 
Corporation is committed to selling 100% of its electricity 
production from a hydroelectric power station located in the 
United States. The Corporation has also entered into 26-month 
power sale agreements with respect to two of its wood-residue 
thermal power stations. These contracts expire on February 
28, 2009. Lastly, in Canada and France, the Corporation is 

committed to selling 100% of its electricity and steam pro-
duction under long-term contracts expiring as follows:

source generation type expiration

Canada Electricity 2010 and 2021
France Electricity  Between 2013 and 2020
France Steam 2022

To operate the Middle Falls power station in the United 
States, the Corporation leases the land where the facilities are 
situated from Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation under a 
lease that runs until 2027. Until 2013, payment is set at a fixed 
amount indexed at 3% annually. In 2006, the lease payment 
was $361,000 (US$318,300) and will be indexed at 3% per 
year until 2013. Starting in 2014, the lease will be variable, at 
30% of the gross revenue of the Middle Falls power station.

The Corporation is committed under forward sales contracts 
to sell RECs generated by one of its U.S. power stations that 
has qualified as a renewable energy producer in Connecticut. 
As at December 31, 2006, the balance of these engagements 
was about $8.6 million, for periods from January 2007 to 
December 2007. After, the end of 2006, the Corporation also 
concluded contracts for an additional $6.7 million for 2007, 
2008 and 2009.

In accordance with its risk management policy, the 
Corporation set the price of part of the production of one of 
its wood-residue facilities under forward contracts requiring 
the physical delivery of electricity. As at December 31, 2006, 
the total of these contracts covered 116,400 MWh 
(229,200 MWh in 2005). These contracts had an unfavou-
rable fair value of US$903,000 (US$8,520,000 in 2005).

Under the wood-residue supply contracts for its power sta-
tions, the Corporation agreed to receive of certain minimum 
quantities. Based on production forecasts, the Corporation 
expects to take delivery of quantities above the contract mini-
mums. The Corporation has signed a turnkey maintenance 
contract with GE Wind Energy for its wind power project at 
Massif Central. The initial contract period is five years, with 
anticipated annual expenditures of approximately €600,000.
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Over the years, the Corporation has sold portions of its 
business, including electrical power stations, to the Boralex 
Power Income Fund. Under the agreements regarding these 
sales, the Corporation could be required to indemnify the 
purchaser for the liabilities of a company arising from events 
prior to the sale, whether in connection with labour, tax,  
environmental, judicial or other matters, or arising from 
representations made by the Corporation. Indemnification 
guarantees of this type extend mainly over periods of less than 
ten years. The Corporation cannot assess the amount of its 
contingent liabilities under such indemnification guarantees 
since these amounts depend on the occurrence of possible 
future events whose nature and likelihood cannot be established 
for the time being. However, the maximum amount under 
these guarantees may not exceed the proceeds from the sales.

related party transactions
In addition to holding 23% of the Boralex Power Income 
Fund trust units, the Corporation is linked to the Fund  
by long-term management and administration contracts.  
In 2006, these agreements generated 4% of Boralex’s total 
revenue (4% in 2005), while its share of the Fund’s results 
represented 7% (7% in 2005). Boralex received distributions 
of $12.4 million in 2006 ($12.4 million in 2005). 

One of Boralex’s power stations in France supplies steam  
to Norampac Inc., which is 100% owned by Cascades Inc. 
Cascades is a company that has considerable influence over 
Boralex, since it holds 43% of its share capital. Revenue  
from Norampac was to $7.9 million for fiscal 2006 ($7.9 mil-
lion in 2005).

The Corporation also has a management contract for power 
stations controlled by one of its directors and officers. Revenue 
from this agreement amounted to $0.5 million for fiscal 2006 
($0.5 million in 2005).

significant accounting estimates
Some of Boralex’s accounting policies require significant  
estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes. 

These future events and their effects cannot be determined 
with absolute certainty, but estimates are based on assumptions 
deemed reasonable by management. Actual results could differ 
from estimates and even small variances could have a material 
effect on the Corporation’s financial statements. The signifi-
cant estimates used by the Corporation mainly concern the 
assumptions used to assess the impairment of long-lived 
assets. Estimates related to future electricity prices, the useful 
remaining asset life, and future cash inflows and outflows  
related to those assets, could vary considerably in the future. 
These estimates could have a material impact on the 
Corporation’s future operating results and financial position.

new accounting policies adopted
No new accounting policy was adopted in 2006. 

new accounting standards to be adopted  
in future years 

Financial Instruments, Hedging, Equity and 
Comprehensive Income
In January 2005, CICA published four new sections: Section 
1530, “Comprehensive Income”; Section 3251 “Equity”; 
Section 3855 “Financial Instruments –Recognition and 
Measurement” and Section 3865 “Hedges”. These new  
standards regarding recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments, hedging and comprehensive income have been 
created to harmonize with the generally accepted accounting 
policies already used in the United States. The Corporation 
must adopt the new standards for the period starting January 1, 
2007. The Corporation is presently evaluating the impact of 
these new standards on its financial position and results 
of operations.

additional information
Additional information about the Corporation, including  
its latest Annual Report and Annual Information Form,  
quarterly reports and press releases, is available on the  
SEDAR website (www.sedar.com).
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years ended december 31
(in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise specified)

 
            2006

quarters ended  march 31 june 30 september 30 december 31

Revenue from energy sales
Hydroelectric power stations   3,594  2,693  1,785  2,867
Wood-residue thermal power stations   22,248  11,001  17,986  19,891 
Natural gas thermal power station   5,685  1,904  2,220  4,954 
Wind power sites   5,574  5,221  4,652  7,727 
      37,101  20,819  26,643  35,439 

EBITDA
Hydroelectric power stations    2,563    2,129    815    1,974 
Wood-residue thermal power stations    4,247    (2,767)   2,939    1,167 
Natural gas thermal power station    3,503    344    236    1,322 
Wind power sites    4,511    4,457    4,016    6,782 
Corporate and eliminations    2,757    746    366    715 
       17,581    4,909    8,372    11,960 
    
Net earnings    7,609  1,483   1,215  4,713 
 per share (basic)   $0.25    $0.05    $0.04    $0.16 
    
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)    29,997,561  30,038,064  30,049,586  30,049,586 
 
 

            2005
quarters ended  march 31 june 30 september 30 december 31

Revenue from energy sales
Hydroelectric power stations   2,699   2,627   1,196   3,440 
Wood-residue thermal power stations   20,516  14,458  22,989  20,511 
Natural gas thermal power station   5,739  2,058  1,914  4,233 
Wind power sites    2,064  1,271  859  2,122 
       31,018  20,414  26,958  30,306 

EBITDA
Hydroelectric power stations   2,284  1,979  (61)  2,251 
Wood-residue thermal power stations    2,040  4,447  6,051  4,366 
Natural gas thermal power station    1,432  666  (283)   885 
Wind power sites    1,646  1,054  532  916 
Corporate and eliminations    1,998  589  29  1,263 
        9,400  8,735  6,268  9,681 
    
Net earnings    3,409  5,588  2,729  9,362 
 per share (basic)   $0.11  $0.19  $0.09  $0.31 
    
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)     29,986,663  29,986,663  29,986,663  29,987,978 

Selected Quarterly Information
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Management’s Report

The consolidated financial statements and other financial 
information included in the Annual Report are the respon-
sibility of, and have been prepared by, the management of 
Boralex Inc. within reasonable limits of materiality. To fulfill 
this responsibility, management maintains appropriate systems 
of internal control, policies, and procedures. These systems  
of internal control, policies and procedures help ensure that 
the Corporation’s reporting practices and accounting and 
administrative procedures provide reasonable assurance that 
the financial information is relevant, reliable, and accurate  
and that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed  
in accordance with proper authorization. These consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, which  
are summarized in the consolidated financial statements. 
Where appropriate, these consolidated financial statements 
reflect estimates based on judgements of management. 
Financial information presented elsewhere in this Annual 
Report is consistent, where applicable with that shown in  
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been further 
reviewed by the Board of Directors and by its Audit Committee. 
The Audit Committee is comprised exclusively of independent 
Directors and meets periodically during the year with the 
independent auditors and Boralex Inc. The auditors have full 
access to the Audit Committee and meet with the committee 
both with and without the presence of management.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent auditors,  
have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Fund.  
The independent auditors’ responsibility is to express a profes-
sional opinion on the fairness of the consolidated financial 
statements. The auditors’ report outlines the scope of their 
examination and sets forth their opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements.

Auditors’ Report
 
To the shareholders of Boralex Inc.
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Boralex Inc. 
as at December 31, 2006, and December 2005, and the con-
solidated statements of earnings, retained earnings and cash 
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. These standards require 
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements  
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Corporation as at December 31, 2006, and December 31, 
2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles.

Management’s Report and Auditors’ Report

Patrick Lemaire 
President and Chief Executive Officer

 

Jean-François Thibodeau 
Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer

Montreal, Canada
February 28, 2007

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants

Montreal, Canada
February 28, 2007

(s) Patrick Lemaire 

 

(s) Jean-François Thibodeau 

(s) PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
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Consolidated balance sheets

As at December 31  (in thousands of dollars)     note   2006  2005 

assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents       13,899  10,615
Accounts receivable     17  26,964  26,006
Inventories       5,342  5,232
Prepaids       2,776  1,955
Future income taxes     14  -  7,979
          48,981  51,787

Investment     4 a  75,553  77,997
Property, plant and equipment     5  282,489  262,460
Electricity sales contracts     6  20,631  16,814
Future income taxes     14  6,249  -
Other assets     7  44,480  20,457
          478,383  429,515  

liabilities  
Current liabilities
Bank loans and advances       -   1,215
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     17  20,005  28,608
Income taxes       1,786  2,787
Current portion of long-term debt     8  41,835  37,802
          63,626  70,412

Long-term debt     8  192,493  164,832
Deferred revenue     9  16,368  -
Future income taxes     14  21,564  28,026
Non-controlling interests       730  1,034
          294,781  264,304

shareholders’ equity
Capital stock     11  112,451  111,686
Retained earnings       99,208  84,188
Cumulative translation adjustments     12  (28,057)  (30,663)
          183,602  165,211
          478,383  429,515

Germain Benoit
Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee

Consolidated Financial Statements

Approved by the Board of Directors, 

Bernard Lemaire
Executive Chairman of the Board

(s) Germain Benoit(s) Bernard Lemaire
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Consolidated statements of earnings

For the years ended December 31  (in thousands of dollars, except per-share amounts and number of shares)    note  2006  2005 

Revenue from energy sales       120,002  108,696 
Renewable energy tax credits     9  10,622  11,039 
Operating costs       94,572  87,851 
          36,052  31,884 

Share in earnings of the Fund       10,023  8,873 
Management revenue from the Fund     4 b  5,457  5,357
Other revenue       4,776  1,563
          56,308  47,677
Other expenses
Management and operation of the Fund       4,249  4,054
Administration costs       9,237  9,539
          13,486  13,593

Earnings before amortization        42,822  34,084

Amortization       20,880  11,037
Financial expenses     13  12,528  4,421
          33,408  15,458

Earnings before income taxes       9,414  18,626

Income tax recovery     14  (5,774)  (2,560)
          15,188  21,186

Non-controlling interest       (168)  (98)
Net earnings       15,020  21,088

Net earnings per Class A share (basic)       $0.50  $0.70
Net earnings per Class A share (diluted)       $0.49  $0.70
Weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding (basic)     11  30,033,885  29,986,994

Consolidated statements of retained earnings

For the years ended December 31  (in thousands of dollars)       2006  2005 

Balance–beginning of year       84,188  63,100
Net earnings for the year       15,020  21,088
Balance–end of year       99,208  84,188

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated statements of cash flows

For the years ended December 31  (in thousands of dollars)     note  2006  2005 

Operating activities
Net earnings       15,020  21,088
Distributions received from the Fund     4 a  12,392  12,391
Adjustments for non-cash items
 Change in the fair value of electricity swaps       -  565
 Share in earnings of the Fund       (10,023)  (8,873)
 Amortization       20,880  11,037
 Amortization of deferred financing costs       475  477
 Renewable energy tax credits       (9,870)  (11,039)
 Future income taxes     14  (5,100)  86
 Other       744  487
          24,518  26,219
Changes in non-cash working capital balances     15  (10,713)  (6,907)
          13,805  19,312

Investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment       (19,201)  (135,753)
Other assets       (7,798)  (3,034)
Business acquisitions     3  (6,749)  (18,642)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment       -  400
          (33,748)  (157,029)

Financing activities  
Bank loans and advances       (1,215)  19,637
Increase in long-term debt       69,629  136,108
Payments on long-term debt       (56,487)  (9,075)
Financing costs       (1,167)  (2,547)
Monetization program, net of related expenses      9  10,935  -
Net proceeds on share issuance       273  12
Other        -  (72)
          21,968  144,063

Translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents       1,259  (1,173)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents        3,284  5,173
Cash and cash equivalents–beginning of year       10,615  5,442
Cash and cash equivalents–end of year       13,899  10,615

Supplemental disclosure
Cash and cash equivalents paid for
 Interests       12,028  6,489
 Income taxes       720   356

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated  
Financial Statements

December 31, 2006 and 2005 (Tabular amounts are in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise specified.)

Note 1. 
Nature of operations and basis of consolidation
Boralex inc. (“Boralex” or the “Corporation”) operates mainly as a private producer of energy. As at December 31, 2006,  
the Corporation had interests in eight hydroelectric power stations (eight in 2005), six wood-residue thermal power stations 
(five in 2005), one natural gas cogeneration power station (one in 2005) and six wind power stations (six in 2005), for a total 
capacity of 333.2 megawatts (“MW”) (315.2 MW in 2005). The Corporation also manages ten power stations (ten in 2005) 
owned by Boralex Power Income Fund (the “Fund”), in which the Corporation holds an interest, and two hydroelectric power 
stations (two in 2005) on behalf of an entity controlled by a director and officer of the Corporation.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation, its subsidiaries and variable interest entities 
for which it is the primary beneficiary. The investment in the Fund is recorded using the equity method. 

(Data relating to MW are unaudited)

Note 2. 
Significant accounting policies
Use of Estimates and Measurement of Uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet dates, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates. These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments, 
as they become necessary, are reported in the period in which they become known.

The key estimates used by Boralex relate mainly to the impairment tests of long-lived assets and the recoverability of renewa-
ble energy tax credits. The key assumptions are: the future price of electricity and its other associated revenues, the price of 
other energy sources, particularly those of oil and natural gas, future costs of wood-residue procurement, and finally the remai-
ning useful life of the energy producing assets, considering the maintenance planned over the period.

On a three-year horizon, there exists some liquidity in the electricity open market, making it possible to project the future 
price curve. Beyond three years, prices can be negotiated with specific parties, but often at a significant discount considering a 
lack of liquidity for such a period. Therefore, the assumption made is that for years four and after, the price will vary according  
to inflation rates. Assumptions related to the other sources of energy are made using a similar method since there exists a corre-
lation between their price and that of electricity.

In regards to wood-residue costs, this raw material is not part to an organized open market. Purchases are made based on  
specific agreements negotiated with each supplier. Most of the agreements are renewable on an annual basis, therefore the prices 
are subject to some volatility. In that context, the assumption for wood-residue costs is based on next year’s contracts, adjusted  
for inflation in the remaining years of the forecast period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Finally, the remaining useful life of the assets will vary with the amount of maintenance work realized each year. When the power 
stations are sufficiently well maintained, their useful life can be very long and limited mostly by changes in technology which 
could make their production less competitive. Consequently, the forecasts consider sufficient maintenance expenses to ensure 
that the power stations’ life will last, at a minimum, as long as the forecast period, namely 15 years.

Relating to its investment in the Fund, the Corporation plans to hold it on a long-term perspective and continue to receive  
distributions of its taxable income. Consequently, the income tax liabilities relating to the investment have been calculated 
using the income tax rate applicable to business income, which is higher than the rate applicable to capital gain that would 
apply in the event that Boralex sells this investment. These estimates could have a significant impact on the operating results 
and future financial situation.

Revenue Recognition
The Corporation recognizes its energy revenue under the following policies:

Revenue from electricity and steam 
The Corporation recognizes revenue from energy sales when the energy generated is received by the client.

Management revenue
Management revenue from the Fund and other revenue are recognized when the service is provided.

Renewable Energy Certificates (“REC”)
Revenue from RECs is recognized when earned, i.e. when the Corporation has met the quarterly statutory requirements and the 
value of the RECs can be determined based on sufficient fixed-price and firm sales agreements with unrelated parties.

Fair Market Value of Financial Instruments
The Corporation has estimated the fair market value of its financial instruments based on current interest rates, market value 
and current pricing of financial instruments with comparable terms. Unless otherwise indicated, the carrying value of these 
financial instruments approximates their fair market value.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Corporation uses derivative financial instruments to manage its market risk with respect to the selling price of electricity 
and with respect to interest rates. As a matter of policy, the Corporation does not hold these derivatives for trading or speculation. 
The Corporation documents the risk management objective and strategy for hedging transactions, as well as all relationships 
between its hedging items and the hedged items. This process involves associating specific balance sheet assets or liabilities,  
firm commitments or anticipated transactions with each derivative. The Corporation also determines whether the derivatives 
used for hedging are effective in offsetting the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged items. Throughout the hedging 
relationship, the Corporation must have reasonable assurance that the relationships remain highly effective and consistent with 
its risk management strategy.

If a hedging item ceases to exist or to be effective and is not replaced as part of the documented hedging strategy, the gains 
and losses previously deferred are carried forward to be recognized with the corresponding gains and losses on the hedged item. 
If the hedged item ceases to exist, the gains and losses previously deferred as a result of the hedging relationship are recognized 
in the current period’s statements of earnings. The estimated fair value is determined using pricing models that take into account  
current market prices and contract prices for the underlying items, the time value of money and yield curves.

Derivative financial instruments designated as hedges
In accordance with hedge accounting, gains, losses, income, and expenses arising from the hedging item must be recognized in 
the same period as those arising from the hedged item.

Payments made or received with respect to derivative financial instruments used for hedging are charged to Revenue from energy 
sales for electricity-related financial swaps and to Financial expenses for interest rate swaps.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Derivative financial instruments not designated as hedges
Derivative financial instruments which are not designated as hedges are recorded at their estimated fair values under Fair value 
of derivative financial instruments as assets or liabilities of the Corporation, depending on the favourable or unfavourable  
position of the fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value are recorded against earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and bank balances. Cash equivalents include bankers’ acceptances and commercial paper that  
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and will initially mature in three months or less. These investments are 
recorded at cost plus accrued interest and their carrying value approximates their fair market value.

Inventories
Inventories represent wood residue and are valued at the lower of cost and replacement cost. Cost is determined using the  
average cost method.

Investment
The investment represents the Corporation’s share in the Fund and is recorded using the equity method, net of the unrealized 
gain which is amortized using the straight-line method over a period of 20 years.

Property, Plant and Equipment, and Amortization
Property, plant and equipment, comprised mainly of power stations, are recorded at cost, including interest incurred during  
the period of construction of new power stations or wind farms. Amortization begins on the date the assets are put into service 
using the following methods:

Wood-residue thermal power stations
Amortization is calculated using the production method based on electricity production. According to this method, the amorti-
zation expense recorded in earnings is based on actual production during the period in relation to anticipated long-term production.

Power station with index-linked long-term sale contract
Amortization is calculated using the compound interest method at a rate of 3% over a term of no more than 40 years.

Wind sites and other power stations
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over periods of 18 to 40 years.

Replacement parts are valued at the lower of cost and market value, and are not amortized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability when particular events or changes in circumstances indicate that their book value 
might not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying value of assets with the estimated value of 
future cash flows directly associated with the use of these assets. Impaired assets are recorded at fair value, determined primarily 
by estimating the discounted future cash flows directly associated with their use and eventual disposition.

Electricity Sale Contracts
The purchase costs of electricity sale contracts are amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining term of the 
contracts, ranging from 12 to 22 years.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Other Assets
Net investment direct financing leases
The Corporation engaged in lease financing transactions with a few suppliers in order to ensure a steady supply of wood- 
residue. Amounts receivable under these leases appear under Other assets. Repayments are based on a per-unit rate for the 
volume of raw material delivered to the Corporation’s power stations by the leaseholders. In addition to capital repayments, 
the Corporation receives interest on amounts receivable; this interest income is included in reduction of Financial expenses  
in the Statement of Earnings.

Deferred financing costs
Deferred financing costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the corresponding debts.

Monetization program expenses
The expenses of setting up the monetization program are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the life of the program, 
namely three years.

Restricted funds
Restricted funds represent funds held in trust for the purpose of satisfying the requirements of certain long-term debt agreements. 
The restricted funds, consisting of deposit certificates, are valued at the lower of cost and market value.

Project development costs
Project development costs include design and acquisition costs related to new projects. These costs are deferred until construction 
of the new power station begins, at which time they are charged against the cost of the power station or recorded as intangible 
assets, as appropriate. The Corporation only defers costs for projects when it believes they are more likely than not of being  
completed. If this probability subsequently declines, the costs deferred to that date are expensed.

CO2 quota 
The quota is recognized at its market value on the allocation date. The Corporation then records an asset and a liability for  
that same amount. The asset represents the allocated quota, while the liability represents the estimated cost of its consumption. 
There is no subsequent re-evaluation of the market value for either the asset or the liability. However, if estimated consumption 
exceeds the quota, the Corporation would recognize an additional liability based on market value at that date, which would 
affect the Corporation’s results. On the other hand, if estimated consumption is less than the quota, the Corporation would be 
in a position to sell its excess quota. In that event, the Corporation must wait until the execution of a sale before it can reduce 
its assets and liabilities. Finally, if, subsequent to a sale, the Corporation determined that its consumption had increased and 
that it had insufficient residual quota, it would recognize an additional liability at market value at that date.

Income Taxes
The Corporation uses the liability method in accounting for income taxes. According to this method, future income taxes are 
determined using the difference between the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The tax rate in effect when these 
differences will reverse is used to calculate future income taxes at the balance sheet date. Future income tax assets arising from  
losses carried forward and temporary differences are recognized when it is more likely than not that the assets will be realized.

Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing at the transaction date. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the local currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. Unrealized gains and losses on translation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in the determi-
nation of net earnings for the year.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Foreign operations
The Corporation’s foreign operations are defined as self-sustaining. The assets and liabilities of these operations are translated 
into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the average 
exchange rate for the year. Translation gains or losses are deferred and posted under Cumulative translation adjustments.

Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue corresponds to the non-amortized portion of the forward payment received by the Corporation when it set up 
its program to monetize the U.S. renewable energy production tax credits. This deferred revenue will be recognized incremen-
tally as the credits are earned by the power stations in the program. See note 9 of the financial statements for details.

Stock-based Compensation and Other Stock-based Payments
The Corporation uses the fair value method to record stock options issued to senior management and executives. According to 
this method, an expense is recorded to earnings based on the exercise conditions of the options awarded. The fair value is deter-
mined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which was designed to estimate the fair value of traded options that have no 
restrictions as to vesting of rights and are completely transferable. Some of the outstanding options do carry restrictions, but, in 
the Corporation’s opinion, the Black-Scholes model provides an effective estimate of fair value in these cases. Any consideration 
paid by employees on the exercise of stock options is credited to Capital stock.

Expenses related to stock options are recorded under Administration costs and the cumulative value of unexercised options  
outstanding is included under Capital stock.

Per-share Amounts
Per share amounts are determined based on the weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding during the year. Diluted 
amounts per common share are calculated using the share redemption method to determine the dilutive effect of the stock options. 
For options that have a dilutive effect, i.e. when the average share price for the period is higher than the exercise price of the 
options, this method assumes that the options have been exercised at the beginning of the period and that the resulting proceeds 
have been used to buy back common shares of the Corporation at their average price during the period.

Asset Retirement Obligations
An asset retirement obligation is valued at its fair value in the period in which the legal obligation is incurred. A conditional 
asset retirement obligation is valued at its fair value when it can be reasonably estimated. The related costs are capitalized,  
which increases the value of the asset, and are depreciated over the asset’s useful life. The obligation is discounted using a  
credit-adjusted risk-free rate.

The Corporation has identified these obligations for its wood-residue thermal power stations, wind power sites and hydro-
electric facilities. However, no liability was recorded because it plans to use these assets for an indefinite period. For these 
tangible assets, the information available is insufficient to determine a realistic schedule for future asset retirement. A liability 
will be recorded in the period in which the Corporation obtains sufficient information to establish such a schedule.

Renewable Energy Tax Credits 
In the second quarter of 2005, Boralex adopted the recommendations of Section 3805 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook, entitled “Investment Tax Credits”. This new accounting standard was adopted because of a  
new US tax credit program under American Jobs Creation Act, in which a tax credit can be granted to companies if the process used 
to generate electricity meets the qualifying criteria. Boralex’s wood-residue thermal power stations meet these criteria; this enables 
them to take advantage of this tax benefit, which is based on the amount of electricity generated from the qualified source.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Section 3805 recommends that renewable energy tax credits attributed on the basis of incurred operating expenses should be 
recorded as a reduction of operating cost for the period in which the credits were earned, to the extent that there is a reasonable 
assurance that they will be recoverable during their lifetime.

New accounting standard to be adopted in coming years
Financial instruments, hedging, equity and comprehensive income
In January 2005, the CICA published four new sections: Section 1530, “Comprehensive Income”; Section 3251 “Equity”; 
Section 3855 “Financial Instruments–Recognition and Measurement” and Section 3865 “Hedges”. These new standards dealing 
with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments, hedging and comprehensive income have been created to  
harmonize with the generally accepted accounting policies already used in the United States and must be adopted by the 
Corporation for the period beginning January 1, 2007. The Corporation is presently evaluating the impact of these new standards 
on its financial position and operating results.

Comparative figures
Some items on the prior year’s consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Note 3. 
Business acquisitions
The Corporation accounted for the following transactions using the purchase method:

2006
On June 29, 2006, the Corporation repurchased minority interests of 5% of the Massif Central Project for a cash consideration  
of $997,000 (€700,000). This amount has been added to the value of the electricity sales contracts acquired initially.

On July 31, 2006, the Corporation repurchased minority interests of 35% of the Avignonet-Lauragais Project for a cash conside-
ration of $2,165,000 (€1,500,000). This amount has been added to the value of the electricity sales contracts acquired initially.

On December 5, 2006, the Corporation acquired the assets of a wood-residue power station with an installed capacity of 
18 MW located in Stacyville, Maine. A cash consideration of $3,587,000 (US$3,142,000) was paid to purchase the facility. 
Because of the strategic nature of this acquisition, the purchase price allocation is subject to change.

2005
On April 5, 2005, the Corporation acquired six French companies that owned the rights to build and operate wind farms, the 
electricity sales contracts, as well as some in-progress site construction, located in the Massif Central region of France. These 
sites started commercial production in December 2005 with a total installed capacity of 57 MW. Consideration for this acquisi-
tion was paid in cash and amounted to $13,667,000 (€8,722,000) and 95% was owned by the Corporation. Total investment 
in this project was approximately $113,633,000 (€77,334,000). The electricity produced is sold exclusively to Électricité de 
France (“EDF”) under a 15-year contract.

On June 28, 2005, the Corporation acquired a French company that owned the rights to build and operate a wind farm, the 
electricity sales contracts, as well as some in-progress site construction, located in Plouguin, France. This site started production  
in December 2005 with an installed capacity of 8 MW. Consideration for this acquisition was paid in cash and amounted to 
$2,716,000 (€1,827,000). Total investment in this project was approximately $14,400,000 (€9,900,000). The electricity pro-
duced will be sold exclusively to EDF under a 15-year contract.

On December 14, 2005, the Corporation acquired a French company (La Citadelle S.A.S.) that owned the rights to build 
and operate a wind farm, as well as electricity sales contracts. This site is located in St-Agrève, France and will have an installed 
capacity of 12 MW when it goes into commercial production, originally slated for the fourth quarter of 2006. Commercial pro-
duction has been postponed until the summer of 2007 due to delay in equipment deliveries. Consideration for this acquisition 
was paid in cash and amounted to $2,259,000 (€1,627,000). The electricity produced will be sold exclusively to EDF under a  
15-year contract.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3.  Business acquisitions (cont’d)
            2006

       minority  
      minority interest 
     wood residue interest avignonet- 
     stacyville massif central  lauragais  total

Working capital   266  -  -  266
Property, plant and equipment   3,056  -  -  3,056
Electricity sales contracts   265  997  2,165  3,427
Net assets acquired   3,587  997  2,165  6,749

            2005
     wind power   wind power   wind power  
     massif central  plouguin  st-agrève  total

Working capital   756  317  454  1,527
Property, plant and equipment   2,937  230  -  3,167
Electricity sales contracts   10,236  2,193  1,805  14,234
Net assets acquired   13,929  2,740  2,259  18,928
Cash and cash equivalents included 
 in acquired working capital   262  24  -  286
Net consideration   13,667  2,716  2,259  18,642

Note 4. 
Investment
The Fund is an income trust in which the Corporation holds a 23% interest as at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

a) The investment in the Fund is made up of the following:
          2006  2005

Investment in units, at cost       137,680  137,680
Share in earnings       33,782  25,868
Gain on dilution       545  545
Share in distributions       (59,664)  (47,272)
Share in cumulative translation adjustments       (4,762)  (4,687)
         107,581  112,134
Net unrealized gain       (32,028)  (34,137)
         75,553  77,997

The share in earnings of the Fund recorded in earnings includes amortization of the unrealized gain amounting to $2,109,000 
($2,109,000 in 2005). During the year, the Corporation received $12,392,000 ($12,391,000 in 2005) for its share of the 
distributions of the Fund.

b) In relation to the Fund :
 i)  under the terms of a management agreement ending February 19, 2022 with renewable successive five-year terms, the 

Corporation has undertaken to provide operation, supervision, maintenance, security, management and administration  
services for eight power stations. These services cover all employee wages, salaries and benefits related to these facilities, as 
well as the use of the Corporation’s centralized control system. The fee is indexed annually based on the Consumer Price 
Index for the preceding 12 months. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the management fee under this agreement 
was $5,165,000 ($5,064,000 for 2005);
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Note 4.  Investment (cont’d)
 ii)  the Corporation has undertaken to provide, according to terms similar to those described in (i), the complete management 

of two hydroelectric power stations located in the State of New York (the “Adirondack facilities”) and owned by the Fund. 
More specifically, the amounts payable under this agreement are limited to operating expenses and monthly compensation 
to the Corporation covering the employee wages, salaries and benefits related to the operation, supervision, maintenance, 
security, management and administration of the Adirondack facilities and of the overhead expenses thereof. Fees for this 
agreement were $292,000 for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2006 ($293,000 for 2005). This agreement will 
end in 2023 but is renewable for additional five-year terms at the option of the manager.

c)  Management revenue from the Fund was generated in the normal course of business and is related to the commitments  
described in b) above. Furthermore, as at December 31, 2006, accounts receivable included an amount of $1,872,000 recei-
vable from the Fund ($1,670,000 in 2005), of which $1,033,000 was in the form of distributions receivable ($1,033,000  
in 2005). In 2006 and 2005, no amounts were payable to the Fund.

d)  The table below contains financial information from the consolidated financial statements of the Fund at December 31, 2006  
and 2005 and for the years ending on those dates:

          2006  2005

Consolidated balance sheets
Working capital, net       23,123  18,261
Intangible assets and goodwill       128,147  136,499
Property, plant and equipment and other long-term assets       411,377  426,591
Long-term liabilities       (125,616)  (124,916)
Total net assets       437,031  456,435

         2006  2005

Consolidated statements of earnings  
Revenue       115,226  107,860
Operating income before amortization       70,875  61,781
Net earnings       33,966  24,322

Consolidated statements of cash flows
Operating activities       55,970  53,400
Investing activities       (3,128)  (9,836)
Financing activities       (53,000)  (49,094)

  For the year ended December 31, 2006, 66% of the Fund’s revenue was realized in Canada and 34% in the United States  
(68% and 32% in 2005). As at December 31, 2006 and 2005, 68% of property, plant and equipment was located in Canada 
and 32% in the United States.

Note 5. 
Property, plant and equipment
            2006

       accumulated 
      cost amortization net

Power stations     322,553  52,170  270,383
Wind power stations under construction     9,474  -  9,474
Replacement parts     2,632  -  2,632
        334,659  52,170  282,489
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Note 5.  Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
            2005
       accumulated 
      cost amortization net

Power stations      293,270  32,371  260,899
Replacement parts     1,561  -  1,561
        294,831  32,371  262,460

Amortization of property, plant and equipment amounted to $18,964,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 
($10,708,000 in 2005) including an amount of $1,543,000 relating to capital leases ($1,634,000 in 2005). Those amounts  
are presented as Amortization. Cost and accumulated amortization of assets under capital leases totalled $33,232,000 and 
$6,987,000 respectively as at December 31, 2006 ($29,834,000 and $4,777,000 as at December 31, 2005). 

In 2006, interest in the amount of $420,000 was capitalized to the construction of capital assets ($2,788,000 in 2005).

Note 6. 
Electricity sales contracts
          2006  2005

Cost         22,935  17,278
Accumulated amortization       2,304  464
          20,631  16,814

Amortization of long-term electricity sales contracts amounted to $1,698,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 
($173,000 for 2005) and is included in Amortization.

Note 7. 
Other assets
        note 2006  2005

Renewable energy tax credits       a 20,231  10,625
Deferred financing costs      3,011  2,060
Monetization program expenses     a 5,673  -
Restricted funds and other funds held in trust     b 8,280  1,636
Net investments in lease financing       5,420  4,114
Deferred costs       355  671
CO2 quota        71  717
Investments       79  85 
Project development costs       1,360  549
          44,480  20,457

Amortization of deferred costs amounted to $65,000 in 2006 ($156,000 in 2005) and amortization of the costs related to the 
monetization program were $153,000 in 2006 and are presented in Amortization. Finally, amortization of deferred financing 
costs was $475,000 in 2006 ($477,000 in 2005). The remaining items are not subject to amortization.

During 2006:
a)  The renewable energy tax credits represent tax credits earned by the Corporation before it set up the monetization program as 

well as tax credits attributable to power stations acquired subsequently. Tax credits earned will be used against future income 
taxes. Financial projections indicate that the amount recorded may be realized in the next 5 to 10 years. See note 9 in these 
consolidated financial statements for more information about this transaction.

boralex 2006 Annual Report

56
boralex 2006 Annual Report

57



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 7.  Other assets (cont’d)
b)  Under the financial agreements for the Massif Central and Plouguin projects, in 2006 the Corporation established cash reserves 

for debt servicing. In both cases, the reserve account must always contain sufficient assets to cover the debt servicing for the 
next payment date, i.e., a period of six months.

Note 8. 
Long-term debt
Long-term debt is comprised of the following:
      note  rate (1)  2006  2005

Revolving credit bearing interest at a variable rate   a  6.71%  49,493  40,797
Variable rate project credit of €15,873,000 as at December 31, 2006  
 (€15,725,000 in 2005) maturing June 30, 2007    b  3.38%  24,408  21,775
Secured senior credits with a balance of €83,938,000 as at December 31, 
 2006 (€79,578,000 in 2005), repayable in semi-annual instalments   
 and maturing between 2017 and 2020   c  4.99%  129,071  109,857
Secured junior credit with a balance of €3,734,000 as at December 31,  
 2006 (€2,300,000 in 2005), repayable in semi-annual instalments
 and maturing in 2015   c  6.45%  5,742  3,175
Project leases with a balance of €12,096,000 as at December 31, 2006,  
 (€13,585,000 in 2005), repayable in quarterly instalments and maturing  
 between 2012 and 2015   d  5.56%  18,600  18,755
Term loan bearing interest at a variable rate with a balance of US$4,296,000  
 as at December 31, 2006 (US$5,096,000 in 2005), repayable in quarterly  
 instalments and maturing May 1, 2007     6.80%  5,006  5,942
Other        2,008  2,333
          234,328  202,634
Current portion       41,835  37,802
          192,493  164,832

(1) Average weighted annual rates for 2006, adjusted to reflect the impact of interest rate swaps.

a)  This financing, for a total authorized of $85,000,000, is guaranteed by Boralex’s investment in the Fund, based on the fol-
lowing formula: amounts advanced may not exceed 60% of the market value of the investment. If the market value of the 
investment were to drop below this limit, creditors would be entitled to demand repayment of a portion of the amounts 
advanced in order to reestablish the coverage ratio. As at December 31, 2006, the amount used was $49,493,000 and letters  
of credit for a total of $26,577,000 (including the letter of credit discussed in b) were issued against this operating credit. 
Lastly, the market value of a unit was $9.38 and the repayment threshold was $9.23 (including all letters of credit in circula-
tion issued on the operating credit).

b)  A letter of credit in the amount of $25,269,000 in 2006 ($22,382,000 in 2005) drawn on the revolving credit was issued  
to secure the project leases. Boralex intends to refinance this credit on a long-term basis, but it has been included in current 
liabilities due to its current maturity date.

c)  The Corporation finances a significant portion of the development and construction of its wind power sites with senior and junior 
secured credit. Accordingly, on July 22, 2005, Boralex entered into a major master credit agreement of €190,000,000, including  
a €150,000,000 senior credit facility, a €10,000,000 junior credit arrangement, and €30,000,000 to finance amounts that will  
be recoverable in the short term from the French Trésor Public. These funds will be available for the development of new wind 
power projects, subject to certain conditions. Each project will have separate financing defined by its own contract. Interest will  
be at a variable rate based on the EURIBOR rate plus a margin. This credit will be available until December 31, 2008.
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Note 8.  Long-term debt (cont’d)
As at December 31, 2006, the following funds were available under the master credit agreement:

(in thousands of €) credit limits amounts authorized or drawn available

     plouguin st-agrève

Senior credit   150,000  9,684  14,473  125,843
Junior credit   10,000  -  914  9,086
VAT credit   30,000  2,100  2,600  25,300

      190,000  11,784  17,987  160,229

Since construction at St-Agrève is not yet completed as at December 31, 2006, the Corporation has not finished drawing  
on this credit.

Prior to this master credit agreement, during 2005 the Corporation had obtained senior credit of €67,384,000 and junior 
credit of €4,041,000 for its Massif Central projects. In previous fiscal years, the Corporation had also obtained separate 
financing for a number of projects. As at December 31, 2006, there were no available and unused balances remaining.

Senior and junior credits are secured with the assets of the associated projects, with the junior credit being subordinate  
to the senior credit.

d)  Project leases consist of capital leases on assets located in France. The net book value of property, plant and equipment  
covered by these leases is $26,245,000 as at December 31, 2006 ($25,057,000 in 2005).

Interest rate swaps 
Except for the Nibas wind farm financing, all senior and junior secured credit together with a portion of certain leases bear 
interest at a variable rate. To offset the interest rate risk, the Corporation has entered into interest rate swaps to obtain fixed 
interest charges on portions varying from 57% to 100% of the corresponding debt. These agreements involve the periodic 
exchange of interest payments without any exchange of the principal on which they are calculated. Under these agreements,  
the Corporation receives a variable amount based on the EURIBOR rate and pays fixed amounts based on rates of between 
3.30% and 3.85%. Since the credit is drawn progressively and the loans are periodically repaid when sites are commissioned, 
the swaps have been structured to mirror the terms of the underlying credit arrangements and to always cover a significant  
portion of these arrangements. By using these swap instruments, the Corporation has reduced the proportion of its variable-
rate debt from 88% to 35%.

Financial ratios and guarantees
The long-term debt agreements include certain restrictions in the use of cash flows of the Corporation’s subsidiaries. As well, 
certain financial ratios, such as debt service ratios, must meet designated levels on a quarterly, semi-annual or annual basis.

The senior and junior secured debt and certain other debts or interest rate swaps include requirements to establish and main-
tain reserve accounts to cover short-term debt service, equipment maintenance, and taxes at various times during the course of 
the agreements. As at December 31, 2006, $8,280,000 ($1,636,000 in 2005) was kept in reserve accounts. These amounts are  
included in Other assets on the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet.

In addition to property, plant and equipment associated with capital leases, the property, plant and equipment of one U.S. power 
station, one Canadian power station and the French power stations, with a net book value totalling $172,396,000 as at December 31, 
2006 ($161,288,000 as at December 31, 2005), together with the related working capital, have been pledged as collateral.
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Note 8.  Long-term debt (cont’d)
Minimum future payments
The estimated aggregate amount of repayments on long-term debt in each of the next five years is as follows:

2007          41,835
2008          12,258
2009          12,721
2010          63,097
2011          11,240

Note 9. 
Renewable energy tax credit monetization program
The Corporation closed a transaction that allows it to immediately receive a cash portion of the value of the renewable energy 
tax credits to be earned by some of its wood-residue thermal power stations in the United States. The investor must be the legal 
owner of the power stations in order to take advantage of these credits. The transaction thus also included the transfer of power 
station ownership. However, the Corporation continues to consolidate these facilities under AcG-15, which defines the rules for 
consolidating variable interest entities. Although the Corporation no longer holds the majority voting rights for these operations,  
it is still the primary beneficiary since it will receive all of the cash flow generated by these facilities and is responsible for any 
operating losses. In addition, the Corporation continues to operate these facilities under a service agreement that allows it to 
define strategic and operating parameters.

On December 1, 2006, the Corporation received $16,719,000 (US$14,500,000), or about 50% of the value of the tax credits 
that will be generated between the transaction date and December 31, 2009, the date when the program ends. The balance of 
the credit amount will be paid by the investor as the credits are earned. If the Corporation cannot produce enough to absorb the 
value of the amount initially paid by the investor, the contract requires the Corporation to repay that portion. The Corporation 
believes that future production will be sufficient to cover all its commitments.

The agreements state that by the end of the program, the Corporation’s share of the profits generated by the power stations 
will automatically be adjusted to a minimum of 80% and that it will have call rights to buy back the assets at their market value 
at that date. Based on current estimates, the buyback option would cost about US$5,000,000. 

Due to the implementation of this program, the nature of the amounts recorded from December 1, 2006 has been modified. 
Although the payments are equivalent to a proportion of the value of the renewable energy tax credit, the amounts recorded 
cannot be posted against the taxes the Corporation must pay. The Corporation decided that it would not modify the presentation 
of the items and that it would continue to indicate them separately given their relative materiality.

Note 10. 
Financial instruments
Credit risk
The Corporation has only a few clients, but their credit ratings are in general very high, given that in Québec and France the elec-
tricity market is limited to public monopolies. In the case of steam sales in France, where this energy is used in the papermaking 
process, the customer is in the private sector, which makes the credit risk slightly higher. In the U.S., the market is more deregula-
ted and a large proportion of the Corporation’s business is done with regional producers’ associations such as the NEEPOOL for 
the New England market and the NYISO for the New York State market. Both organizations have very strong credit ratings. The 
Corporation can also reach private agreements directly with energy marketers. These customers are usually very large corporations 
with “Investment Grade” credit ratings. The Corporation regularly monitors the financial condition of these customers.

The Corporation’s counterparties for derivative financial instruments are also large corporations. Before entering into a deriva-
tive transaction, the Corporation analyzes the counterparty’s credit rating and assesses the overall risk based on the counterparty’s 
weight within the Corporation’s portfolio. Should a significant credit rating downgrade or overly heavy weighting make this  
analysis unfavourable, the transaction is not completed. Furthermore, if a company does not have a public credit rating, the 
Corporation assesses the risk and may require financial guarantees.
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Note 10.  Financial instruments (cont’d)
The Corporation is also exposed to a credit risk with respect to its direct financing lease contracts. To reduce this risk, the 
Corporation regularly evaluates supplier performance to see if any measures are required. The Corporation also visits the wood-
chip production sites from time to time to check the condition of equipment. If a supplier’s credit were to become doubtful  
and an acceptable plan of action could not be arranged, the Corporation would have access to the underlying assets, which could 
then be transferred to another supplier with better credit. In such a case, the Corporation would re-value the assets based on  
the lower of the book value or fair market value.

Interest rate risk
The Corporation is carrying long-term debts bearing interest at variable rates. As at December 31, 2006, approximately 88%  
of long-term debt issued bears interest at variable rates, as do the Corporation’s bank loans and advances. A sharp increase in 
interest rates in the future could affect the liquid assets available for the Corporation’s development projects. As discussed in 
note 8, the Corporation has used interest rate swaps to reduce its risk by reducing its exposure to interest rate fluctuations to  
35% of total debt. As at December 31, 2006, the notional balance of these swaps was $135,741,000 (€88,275,000) and their, 
favourable fair value was $2,427,000 (€1,579,000). Some swaps were in a situation of overcompensation for the item covered, 
however the effect was negligeable.

The Corporation does not plan to sell these instruments, since they were entered into in order to reduce the Corporation’s risk 
related to interest rate fluctuations. Therefore, the fact that the fair value is favourable only indicates that forward interest rates 
have increased; it does not reflect on the effectiveness of the instrument as part of the Corporation’s risk management strategy.

Foreign exchange risk
The Corporation is exposed to a foreign exchange risk relating to certain transactions carried out in foreign currencies. Specifically, 
a proportion of the raw materials used in the Corporation’s wood-residue power stations in the United States are purchased with 
Canadian dollars. The majority of other operating, investing and financing transactions are carried out in the power stations’ 
local currencies.

Market risk
The power stations located in France, Canada, as well as Middle Falls, Ashland and Fort Fairfield located in the United States 
have long-term electricity sales contracts. The other U.S. power stations sell their electricity at prevailing market prices. Market 
prices are affected by many factors, including weather conditions, the price of power from other sources and the cost of the raw 
materials needed to generate electricity. To reduce the effects of market price fluctuations, the Corporation has implemented an 
electricity price hedging strategy to set a fixed price for part of its production under various agreements, most of which involve 
the physical delivery of electricity (see note 18 a and d).
For pricing reasons, it can be advantageous under certain conditions to use financial swaps that exchange the variable market 
price for a fixed price agreed upon with a counterparty. As at December 31, 2006, the Corporation had entered into four electri-
city swaps for total deliveries of 227,064 MWh over periods of 7 to 27 months. All financial electricity swaps as at December 31, 
2006 were designated as hedges associated with future electricity deliveries and their favourable fair value amounted to $2,844,000. 
These contracts qualify for hedge accounting.

Fair value
As at December 31, the carrying value and estimated fair value of long-term debts were:
          2006  2005

Carrying value       234,328  202,634
Fair value       233,423  201,704
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Note 11. 
Capital stock
          2006  2005

30,049,586 Class A shares (29,989,398 in 2005)       111,281  111,008
Stock purchase options       1,170  678
          112,451  111,686

The Corporation’s capital stock is composed of an unlimited number of Class A shares.

a) The transactions relating to capital stock for the years ended December 31:

    note    2006    2005
     number  number  
     of shares  of shares 
     (in thousands) amounts  (in thousands) amounts

Balance–beginning of year   29,989  111,686  29,987  111,366
Options exercised   61  273  2  12
Stock purchase options d  -  492  -  308
Balance–end of year   30,050  112,451  29,989  111,686

b)  The Corporation has a normal course issuer bid program, approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange, to redeem up to 
1,500,000 Class A shares, representing approximately 5% of the Class A shares issued and outstanding. This redemption  
program will remain in force until June 13, 2007. No redemption was made to date.

c)  The Corporation has a stock option plan for the benefit of directors, senior management and certain key employees under 
which 2,500,000 Class A shares have been reserved for issuance. The exercise price equals the market value on the day prece-
ding the date the options were granted. The options granted prior to May 19, 2004 may be exercised over a period of four 
years at 25% per year beginning at the grant date, with no restrictions. Options granted on or after May 19, 2004, may be 
exercised at 25% per year beginning the year after they are granted. Furthermore, these options cannot be exercised unless 
the market value of the stock is higher, for a minimum period, than the book value when the options were granted. In some 
cases, the right to exercise the options is linked to certain performance criteria. The stock options are as follows for the years 
ended December 31:

        2006    2005
       weighted    weighted  
     number average number average 
     of options exercise price of options exercise price

Outstanding–beginning of year   946,115  5.23  603,035  4.55
Granted   297,664  9.60  345,815  6.41
Exercised   (60,188)  4.55  (2,735)  4.45
Cancelled   (7,485)  5.60  -  -
Outstanding–end of year   1,176,106  6.37  946,115  5.23
Options exercisable–end of year   565,576  4.84  437,763  4.67
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Note 11.  Capital stock (cont’d)
The following options were outstanding as at December 31, 2006:
 

   outstanding  exercisable

   number  exercise  number exercise  year  of 
granted in of options price of options price maturity

2001 54,270  6.00  54,270  6.00  2011
2002 38,021  8.63  38,021  8.63  2012
2003 105,500  3.57  105,500  3.57  2013
2004 339,254  4.16  282,436  4.10  2014
2005 341,397  6.41  85,349  6.41  2015
2006 297,664  9.60  -  -  2016

    1,176,106  6.37  565,576  4.84 

d)  The Corporation applies the fair value method of accounting for options granted to officers and employees. An amount of 
$492,000 was recorded as Administration costs of the Corporation to account for the options granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2006 ($308,000 in 2005). The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value, at the date of grant, 
of the options issued to officers and employees in the years ended December 31:

          2006  2005

Risk-free interest rate       4.40%  3.85%
Expected annual dividend       0.00%  0.00%
Expected life of options       7 years  5 years
Expected volatility       44%  45%
Weighted average fair value per option       $5.66  $2.85

 
e) Diluted per-share amounts have been calculated as follows:
          2006  2005

Weighted average number of shares outstanding       30,033,885  29,986,994
Dilutive effect of stock purchase options       404,605  253,608
Weighted and diluted average number of shares outstanding       30,438,490  30,240,602
Net earnings       15,020  21,088
Net earnings per share (basic) ($)       0.50  0.70
Net earnings per share (diluted) ($)       0.49  0.70

The table below shows stock that could dilute basic earnings per share in the future but were not taken into account in the 
calculation of the diluted earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive effect:
         2006  2005

Number of anti-dilutive options       335,685  38,021

Note 12. 
Cumulative translation adjustments
          2006  2005

Balance–beginning of year       (30,663)  (23,661)
Currency translation effect on self-sustaining foreign operations       2,658  (7,371)
Share of cumulative translation adjustments of the Fund       (75)  (1,086)
Tax on share of cumulative translation adjustments of the Fund       23  1,455
Balance–end of year       (28,057)  (30,663)
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Note 13. 
Financial expenses
        note  2006  2005

Interest on long-term debt, net of the impact of interest rate swaps      a  12,886  5,181
Interest income       (466)  (411)
Amortization of deferred financing costs       475  477
Other interest and banking fees       53  1,962
          12,948  7,209
Interest capitalized to power stations under development       (420)  (2,788)
          12,528  4,421

a) Interest expense on the direct financing lease contracts was $1,027,000 in 2006 ($1,218,000 in 2005).

Note 14. 
Income taxes 
a) The provision for income taxes is as follows:
          2006  2005

 Income tax recovery
  Current       (674)  (2 646)
  Future       (5,100)  86
          (5,774)  (2 560)

 Earnings before income taxes       9,414  18 626
 Renewable energy tax credits included in pre-tax earnings       (9,594)  (11 039)
          (180)  7 587
 Combined basic Canadian and Québec income tax rate (%)       32.02  31.02
 Income tax expense (recovery) at statutory rate       (58)  2,353
 Increase (decrease) in income taxes arising from the following:
  Change in statutory income tax rates       (2,254)  -
  Non-taxable items       (1,527)  (812)
  Difference in foreign operations’ statutory income tax rates       (435)  371
  Reassessment of current and future income tax assets and liabilities     (1,698)  (4,350)
  Other       198  (122)
          (5,774)  (2,560)

b) Future income taxes include the following items:
          2006  2005

Tax benefit arising from losses carried forward       50,981  19,504
Deferred costs       (3,898)  (103)
Provisions       249  1,977
Investment       (21,710)  (24,191)
Property, plant and equipment       (48,141)  (17,179)
Deferred revenues       6,491  -
Other       713  (55)
Future income taxes       (15,315)  (20,047)

Future income tax assets       6,249  7,979
Future income tax liabilities       (21,564)  (28,026)

          (15,315)  (20,047)

boralex 2006 Annual Report

64
boralex 2006 Annual Report

65



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 14.  Income taxes (cont’d) 
c)  The Corporation and its subsidiaries, notably its French subsidiaries, have accumulated losses for income tax purposes amounting 

to approximately $153,343,000, which may be carried forward to reduce taxable income in future years. With the exception of 
capital losses totalling $1,554,000, the future tax benefit arising from these losses has been recognized in the accounts. These 
unused losses for income tax purposes may be claimed in future years, expiring as follows:

 2013 2014 2024 2026 unlimited total

 1,308 5,088 9,178 4,867 132,902 153,343

d)  Renewable energy tax credits are allocated under the U.S. federal tax regime. With respect to Boralex’s power stations, this 
program will be in force for a five-year period starting January 1, 2005. Tax credits are granted based on the power stations’ real 
production. While this credit is non-refundable, it can be carried forward for the next 20 taxation years. In 2006, a monetiza-
tion program was set up so that Boralex could take immediate advantage of the value of the tax credit. For details of the 
program, see note 9.

Note 15. 
Changes in non-cash working capital balances
          2006  2005

Decrease (increase) in  
 Accounts receivable       45  (10,963)
 Inventories       124  (1,911)
 Prepaids       (678)  (458)
Increase (decrease) in  
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities       (9,165)  10,003
 Income taxes       (1,039)  (3,578)
          (10,713)  (6,907)

Note 16. 
Segmented information
The Corporation’s power stations are grouped under four distinct segments: hydroelectric power, wood-residue thermal power, 
natural gas thermal power and wind power, and are engaged mainly in the production of energy. The classification of these  
segments is based on the different cost structures relating to each type of power station. The accounting policies that apply to 
the individual segments are as described in note 2.

The Corporation analyzes the performance of its operating segments based on their earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion and amortization (“EBITDA”). EBITDA is not a measure of performance under Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles; however, management uses this performance measure for assessing the operating performance of its reportable seg-
ments. Earnings for each segment are presented on the same basis as those of the Corporation.

The following table reconciles EBITDA with net earnings:
          2006  2005

Net earnings       15,020  21,088
Non-controlling interests       168  98
Income tax recovery       (5,774)  (2,560)
Financial expenses       12,528  4,421
Amortization       20,880  11,037
EBITDA       42,822  34,084
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Note 16.  Segmented information (cont’d)
Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of customers. In 2006, the Corporation had four customers  
accounting for more than 10% of its revenue. Their respective share of total revenue was: 30%, 24%, 15% and 10%.  
In 2005, the Corporation had five customers accounting for more than 10% of its revenue. Their respective share of total  
revenue was: 29%, 17%, 14%, 13% and 11%.

Information by segment
      2006  2005  2006  2005
     power generation (mwh)  revenue

     (unaudited) (unaudited)

Hydroelectric power stations   138,518  109,761  10,939   9,962
Wood-residue thermal power stations   1,010,206  1,012,540  71,126  78,474
Natural gas thermal power stations   38,365   37,328  14,763  13,944
Wind power sites   189,964  45,695  23,174  6,316
      1,377,053  1,205,324  120,002  108,696
       purchase of property, plant 
        ebitda    and equipment

Hydroelectric power stations   7,481  6,453  600  366
Wood-residue thermal power stations   5,586  16,904  8,671  22,910
Natural gas thermal power stations   5,405  2,700  24  261
Wind power sites   19,766  4,148  9,688  111,923
Corporate and eliminations   4,584  3,879  218  293 
      42,822  34,084  19,201  135,753

As at December 31   2006  2005  2006  2005
      total assets property, plant and equipment

Hydroelectric power stations   34,284  26,787  10,691  10,579
Wood-residue thermal power stations   147,099  128,287  97,919  96,230
Natural gas thermal power stations   21,944  18,258  12,201  11,831
Wind power sites   196,987  175,940  156,899  140,816
Corporate and eliminations   78,069  80,243  4,779  3,004
      478,383  429,515  282,489  262,460

Geographic information
      2006  2005  2006  2005
     power generation (mwh)  revenue

     (unaudited) (unaudited)

United States   1,133,208  1,109,640  81,044  87,627
France    228,329  83,023  37,938  20,260
Canada    15,516  12,661  1,020  809
      1,377,053  1,205,324  120,002  108,696
       purchase of property, plant 
        ebitda    and equipment

United States   12,743  22,418  9,251  22,607
France    25,171  6,934  9,767  112,394
Canada    4,908  4,732  183  752
      42,822  34,084  19,201  135,753
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Note 16.  Segmented information (cont’d)
As at December 31   2006  2005  2006  2005
      total assets property, plant and equipment

United States   177,751  147,481  105,649  101,838
France    218,931  196,114  169,100  152,919
Canada    81,701  85,920  7,740  7,703
      478,383  429,515  282,489  262,460

Note 17. 
Related-party transactions
In addition to the transactions with the Fund (see note 4), the Corporation entered into the following transactions with  
related parties: 

          2006  2005

Company (and its subsidiaries) having significant influence on the Corporation  
 Revenue from energy sales       7,859  7,926
 Other revenue       -  39
 Operating expenses       1,129  776
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment       64  3
Entity controlled by a director and officer of the Corporation  
 Other revenue       468  507
 Interest income       24  8

These transactions occurred in the normal course of business and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount 
of the consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

The balance sheets as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 included the following balances with related parties:

          2006  2005

Company (and its subsidiaries) having significant influence on the Corporation  
 Accounts receivable       2,134  1,625
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities       1,856  427
Entity controlled by a director and officer of the Corporation
 Accounts receivable       478  87

Note 18. 
Commitments and contingencies
In addition to the commitments related to the Fund (note 4 b), the Corporation is committed to the following:
a)  Under a long-term contract expiring in 2027, the Corporation is committed to selling 100% of its electricity production 

from a hydroelectric power station located in the United States. In 2006, the Corporation has renewed its power sales agree-
ments for an additional term of 26 months with respect to two of its wood-residue thermal power stations. These contracts 
expire on February 28, 2009. Lastly, in Canada and France the Corporation is committed to selling 100% of its electricity 
and steam production under long-term contracts expiring as follows:

source production type expiry

Canada Electricity 2010 and 2021 
France Electricity  Between 2013 and 2020 
France Steam 2022
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Note 18.  Commitments and contingencies (cont’d)
b)  To operate the Middle Falls power station in the United States, the Corporation leases the land where the facilities are situa-

ted from Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation under a lease that runs until 2027. Until 2013, payment is a fixed amount 
that is indexed at 3% per year. In 2006, the rent was $361,000 (US$318,300) and will be indexed at 3% per year until 2013. 
From 2014, the rent will be variable at 30% of the power station’s gross revenue.

c)  The Corporation is committed under forward sales contracts to sell the RECs earned by one of its U.S. power stations that 
has qualified as a renewable energy producer in Connecticut. As at December 31, 2006, the balance of these commitments 
totalled about $8,600,000, for periods between January 2007 and December 2007.

d)  In accordance with its risk management policy, the Corporation set the price of a portion of the power generated by one  
of its wood-residue power stations under future contracts that require the physical delivery of electricity. As at December 31, 
2006, these contracts totalled 116,400 MWh (229,200 MWh in 2005). These contracts had an unfavourable fair value  
of US$903,000 (US$8,520,000 in 2005).

e)  Under the supply agreements for its wood-residue power stations, the Corporation has undertaken to receive deliveries of certain 
minimum quantities. Based on production forecasts, the Corporation will purchase quantities above the contract minimums.

f)  With regard to the Municipal Taxation Act, since 1999 the Corporation has been appealing a series of assessment notices rela-
ting to a tax regime other than that to which the Corporation is subject. At the very beginning of 2007, the Corporation 
came to an agreement with tax authorities. The effects of the subsequent settlement were recorded as at December 31, 2006.

g)  Over the years, the Corporation has sold portions of its enterprises, including electrical power stations to the Boralex Power 
Income Fund. Under the agreements with respect to these sales, the Corporation could be required to indemnify the purcha-
ser for liabilities arising from events prior to the sale, whether in connection with labour, tax, environmental, judicial or  
other matters, or arising from representations made by the Corporation. Indemnification guarantees of this type extend 
mainly over periods of less than 10 years. The Corporation cannot assess the amount of its contingent liabilities under  
such indemnification guarantees since these amounts depend on the occurrence of possible future events whose nature  
and likelihood cannot be established for the time being. However, the maximum amount associated with these guarantees 
may not exceed the proceeds from the sales.

h)  The Corporation has signed a turnkey maintenance contract with GE Wind Energy for its wind power project at Massif 
Central. The initial contract period is five years, with anticipated annual expenditures of about €600,000.
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Boralex Inc. (“Boralex” or the “Corporation”) is a major private electricity 
producer whose core business is the development and operation of power 
stations that run on renewable energy. Employing close to 300 people in 
Québec, the northeastern United States and France, the Corporation owns  
and operates 21 power stations with a combined installed capacity of  
333 megawatts (“MW”). Boralex is distinguished by its leading expertise  
and long experience in four types of power generation: 

>> Over the past five years, Boralex has become 
one of the biggest and most experienced wind 
power producers in France, where it currently 
operates six wind farms with a total installed 
capacity of 89 MW. A new 12-MW wind farm 
will be starting up in St-Agrève, France in 2007.
>> Boralex owns eight hydroelectric power 
stations, including five in the United States, 
two in Québec and one in France, with a 
combined installed capacity of 26 MW. 

>> Boralex is the largest producer of wood-
residue energy in North America, operating six 
thermal power stations in the states of Maine 
and New York with a total installed capacity  
of 204 MW. 
>> Boralex also operates a 14-MW natural gas 
cogeneration power station in France. 

In addition to its own power stations, Boralex 
manages 10 power stations for the Boralex 
Power Income Fund (the “Fund”), in which  
it holds a 23% interest. These facilities have a 
total capacity of 190 MW and consist of one 
thermal power station and one wood-residue 
cogeneration plant in Québec, seven hydroelec-
tric power stations (five in Québec and two in 
the United States), and a natural gas cogenera-
tion power station in Québec. 
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Profile

Head office
Boralex inc.
36 Lajeunesse Street
Kingsey Falls, Quebec J0A 1B0 
Canada
Telephone: (819) 363-5860
Fax: (819) 363-5866

Business office
Boralex inc.
770 Sherbrooke Street West
Montreal, Quebec H3A 1G1 
Canada
Telephone: (514) 284-9890
Fax: (514) 284-9895

Website
www.boralex.com

Additional copies of the following  
documents and other information can  
also be obtained at the above address or  
on Boralex Inc.’s and SEDAR’s websites:
> Annual report
> Quarterly reports
> Annual information form
> Information circular

Transfer agent and registrar
Computershare Investor Services Inc.
1500 University Street, Suite 700
Montreal, Quebec H3A 3S8 
Canada
Telephone:  
1-800-564-6253 / (514) 982-7888
Fax: 1-888-453-0330 / (514) 982-7635
service@computershare.com

Shareholder information
The annual Meeting of Shareholders  
will be held at 11:00 a.m., Wednesday,  
May 16, 2007 at the:

Centre Mont-Royal 
Room Mont-Royal I 
4th floor
2200, Mansfield Street
Montreal, Quebec H3A 3R8 
Canada
Telephone:  
(514) 844-2000 / 1-888-844-2200

Additional information  
may be obtained from: 
Communications Department
Boralex inc.
770 Sherbrooke Street West
Montreal, Quebec H3A 1G1 
Canada
Telephone: (514) 985-1353
Fax: (514) 985-1355

Pour obtenir une version française du  
rapport annuel, veuillez communiquer  
avec le service des communications.
 

General Information

Design: www.nolin.ca
Text: Lefebvre communications financières inc.
Translation: Lucille Nelson, Certified translator

Printed on Rolland Enviro100 (cover 160M, text 160M, text 120M), a 100% post-consumer, certified Processed Chlorine Free and EcoLogo paper.
Using this paper, instead of virgin fibres paper, reduces our ecological footprint of 41 trees.
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